

SPECIAL REPORT No. 281 | April 2, 2024

A Conservative Defense Budget for Fiscal Year 2025

Robert Greenway, Wilson Beaver, Robert Peters, Alexander Velez-Green, John Venable, Brent Sadler, and Jim Fein



A Conservative Defense Budget for Fiscal Year 2025

Robert Greenway, Wilson Beaver, Robert Peters, Alexander Velez-Green, John Venable, Brent Sadler, and Jim Fein



No. 281 | APRIL 2, 2024 DOUGLAS AND SARAH ALLISON CENTER FOR NATIONAL SECURITY

About the Authors

Robert Greenway is Director of the Douglas and Sarah Allison Center for National Security at The Heritage Foundation.

Wilson Beaver is Policy Advisor for Defense Budgeting in the Allison Center.

Robert Peters is Research Fellow for Nuclear Deterrence and Missile Defense in the Allison Center.

Alexander Velez-Green is Senior Policy Advisor in the Allison Center.

John Venable is Senior Research Fellow for Defense Policy in the Allison Center.

Brent Sadler is Senior Research Fellow for Naval Warfare and Advanced Technology in the Allison Center.

Jim Fein is Research Assistant for National Security and European Affairs in the Allison Center.

This paper, in its entirety, can be found at https://report.heritage.org/sr281

The Heritage Foundation | 214 Massachusetts Avenue, NE | Washington, DC 20002 | (202) 546-4400 | heritage.org

Nothing written here is to be construed as necessarily reflecting the views of The Heritage Foundation or as an attempt to aid or hinder the passage of any bill before Congress.

Contents

1. Overview of the FY 2025 Conservative Defense Budget.	
The Strategy of Denial.	
Resourcing the Strategy of Denial	
2. The Deterrence Component of Denial	10
The Program of Record	
Beyond the Program of Record: Revitalizing America's Strategic Deterrent	
Missile Defeat and Defense	
3. Overseas Operations	
The Indo-Pacific	
Europe	
The Middle East	
4. Building Enduring Advantages	
Supporting the Troops	
Recruiting	
Major Defense Reforms	
Depoliticizing the Department of Defense.	
5. Munitions	
Recommendations for Procurement	
Defense Industrial Base Reforms	
6. Military Departments	
The Department of the Army	
The Department of the Navy	
The Department of the Air Force	
Conclusion	
Appendix	
Endnotes	

A Conservative Defense Budget for Fiscal Year 2025

Robert Greenway, Wilson Beaver, Robert Peters, Alexander Velez-Green, John Venable, Brent Sadler, and Jim Fein

his Special Report on the conservative defense budget for FY 2025 addresses significant weaknesses identified in The Heritage Foundation's Index of U.S. Military Strength and is mindful of America's woeful fiscal predicament. It reflects years of research and analysis by Heritage defense and budget experts, with recommendations drawn from numerous Heritage reports, and provides both a topline funding recommendation for the Department of Defense and more detailed recommendations within each service's budget. It also recommends priorities within budget increases, especially for procurement. To fund these increases, it recommends topline cuts to certain accounts for dollars that can be reallocated as well as individual items that can be cut and reallocated if additional funding is needed for the identified priorities.

This *Special Report* on the conservative defense budget for fiscal year (FY) 2025 provides a road map for the defense budget that addresses significant weaknesses identified in The Heritage Foundation's annual *Index of U.S. Military Strength* while remaining mindful of America's woeful fiscal predicament. It reflects years of research and analysis by Heritage defense and budget experts, with recommendations drawn from dozens of Heritage reports. This document provides both a topline funding recommendation for the Department of Defense (DOD) as a whole and more detailed recommendations within each service's budget. It also recommends priorities within budget increases, especially for procurement. To fund these increases, the *Special Report* recommends topline cuts to certain accounts for dollars that can be reallocated as well as individual items that can be cut and reallocated within the budget if additional funding is needed for the identified priorities.

1. Overview of the FY 2025 Conservative Defense Budget

President Joe Biden released his official FY 2025 Defense Budget Request in March 2024.¹ In this document, his Administration's misguided priorities are on full display. While paying lip service to the concept of China as the primary challenge for the United States, the official request fails to align spending with strategy. Most egregiously, the request fails to procure the ships, aircraft, and munitions the military needs to deter China in the Indo-Pacific. It is, in a word, insufficient to keep the American people safe.

By contrast, to account for the historically high inflation levels throughout this Administration's tenure and to provide a real increase in military capacity, the FY 2025 conservative budget calls for a roughly 3 percent overall increase over the official FY 2024 request (as opposed to the 1 percent increase called for in the President's FY 2025 request) with procurement accounting for the majority of new funding. It also calls for procurement in addition to that new spending, to be funded by shifts from elsewhere within the defense budget.

Procurement Focus. Ships, aircraft, and munitions are the basis of real military capacity that potential adversaries are prioritizing and need to be similarly prioritized within the U.S. defense budget. When faced with budget constraints, the services invariably cut procurement. In the official FY 2025 request, for example, the Navy chose to cut a *Virginia*-class submarine and the Air Force chose to cut its procurement of F35 fighter jets. Meanwhile, the Air Force increased its Research, Development, Test, and Evaluation (RDT&E) budgets, and the Navy proposed to hire an additional 2,000 civilian employees.

But procurement of critical capabilities, such as ships and aircraft, should be the *last* place the DOD chooses to cut when faced with budget constraints, particularly under current circumstances. Ideally, the DOD should cut bloat, waste, and non-military spending within the budget to pay for necessary procurement. In addition to cutting waste, the DOD will have to cut RDT&E programs of secondary importance, as well as Operation and Maintenance (O&M) or Personnel, to pay for necessary procurement. The Heritage Foundation's FY 2025 conservative defense budget therefore advocates the procurement of additional ships, aircraft, and munitions accompanied by cuts elsewhere in the defense budget.

Shift from RDT&E to Procurement. Within RDT&E, the DOD must focus spending on the projects that are most likely to produce real military capacity, like the Next Generation Air Dominance (NGAD) platform.

Generalized RDT&E projects, or RDT&E projects of secondary importance, must be cut and reallocated to the procurement of ships, planes, and munitions.

In FY 2023, the DOD was authorized to spend \$140 billion for RDT&E and \$167 billion for procurement, making RDT&E equal to about 84 percent of procurement.² From FY 2022 to FY 2023, RDT&E's combined budget authority increased by \$21 billion, and procurement spending increased by about \$13.5 billion. From FY 2021 to FY 2022, spending on RDT&E increased by \$13 billion, and spending on procurement increased by \$4.7 billion.³

These numbers are imbalanced. It is, of course, important to invest in the future of the force, but not at so high a level that it detracts from the military's ability to field equipment and munitions that already exist for the security concerns of the present. The DOD must shift funding from RDT&E accounts into Procurement and O&M.

Focus on the Indo-Pacific. The conservative defense budget reflects the realization that some degree of prioritization is necessary within strategic planning and that defense spending should flow from strategy. While being mindful of the multitude of threats America faces, in accordance with the past two National Defense Strategies (NDS), the conservative defense budget recognizes China as the primary challenge to the United States and allocates resources accordingly.

Strategic Deterrence. As the 2024 Index of U.S. Military Strength lays out, China and Russia have significantly improved their nuclear strategic arsenals in recent years while U.S. capabilities have atrophied. One of this conservative defense budget's most significant investments is in America's own strategic arsenal. The strategic arsenal is the backstop and cornerstone of American security and therefore requires significant investment.

Defense Reforms. As public servants, DOD officials have a duty to the American public to spend their money wisely. The DOD should be aggressive in cutting and reallocating waste and inefficiencies both because it is its duty and because waste and inefficiency limit the military's ability to achieve its prime objective: being a lethal fighting force capable of defending the American people and their interests. This *Special Report* recommends that \$18.8 billion in cuts to defense-wide O&M and RDT&E accounts be shifted to military service spending on procurement and Navy and Air Force O&M. The intent is for more military spending to be directed more to the warfighter and less toward the bloated bureaucracies at the defense agencies.

Unlike President Biden's defense budget request, this *Special Report* does not ask for more DOD civilian employees. Instead, it asks for cuts to

TABLE 1

Overview: Defense Budget

Figures are in billions of dollars.

Official	Official	Conservative
FY 2024 Request	FY 2025 Request	FY 2025 Request
\$842.0	\$849.8	\$867.3

SOURCES: U.S. Department of Defense, "FY 2025 Budget Request Overview," March 2024, https://comptroller. defense.gov/Portals/45/Documents/defbudget/FY2025/FY2025_Budget_Request_Overview_Book.pdf (accessed March 18, 2024), and authors' calculations.

SR281 🖀 heritage.org

budgets at DOD civilian agencies and for Congress to institute reforms to increase the DOD's ability to hire competent employees and fire incompetent employees in order to increase efficiency at all levels.⁴

The Defense Industrial Base. The large increases in procurement of military equipment and munitions in the FY 2025 conservative defense budget represent a serious capital stock investment in the American defense industrial base. This investment will enable industry to make long-term investments in the manufacturing capacity and workforce that America needs to build and maintain a lethal and capable military capable of defending American national security interests.

The conservative defense budget recommends approximately \$8 billion over what the Administration has requested for munitions procurement as well as \$48.1 billion for sea-power investments with new construction of nine battle force fleet ships including one *Columbia*-class submarine and two *Virginia*-class submarines, two *Arleigh Burke*–class destroyers, and two *Constellation*-class guided-missile frigates. The Biden Administration's request critically fails to request funding for a second *Virginia*-class submarine and a second *Constellation*-class frigate. These increased capital investments in the defense industrial base will help to address deficiencies in labor, investment, and capacity.

The Strategy of Denial

The strategy of denial's primary objective is to deny Chinese hegemony in the Indo-Pacific even as U.S. forces defend the U.S. homeland and work

CHART 1

Department of Defense Outlays



SOURCE: U.S. Department of Defense, Office of the Under Secretary of Defense, "National Defense Budget Estimates for FY 2024," Table 6-11, "Department of Defense Outlays by Public Law Title," May 2023, pp. 162–169, https://comptroller.defense.gov/Portals/45/Documents/defbudget/FY2024/ FY24_Green_Book.pdf (accessed December 14, 2023).

closely with allies and partners to counter other threats. The United States faces an increasingly dangerous world, and it has limited resources with which to confront all the threats to the nation—a reality that President Biden's defense budget request regrettably does not recognize. As a result, it is increasingly vital for the United States—and the DOD in particular—to prioritize the Indo-Pacific. That means focusing U.S. forces first and foremost on defending the U.S. homeland and denying China's imperial ambitions while supporting U.S. allies and partners to lead efforts to defend against other threats. In doing so, the United States can protect Americans' security, freedom, and prosperity while also strengthening America's alliances and partnerships around the world so that they, too, can live without fear.

Defending the Homeland and Denying China's Imperial Ambitions. The DOD's fundamental responsibility is to defend the U.S. homeland. It should do so first by strengthening the nation's nuclear deterrent. This is vital to prevent enemies from using nuclear or other weapons of mass destruction (WMDs) against the U.S. homeland. At the same time, the DOD should strengthen U.S. missile defenses with a focus on being able to defeat limited missile salvos by China, Russia, or North Korea. This capacity is

SR281 Theritage.org

critical to prevent those adversaries from using threats of limited nuclear attacks on the U.S. homeland to compel Washington to abandon U.S. interests in other regions.

Finally, the U.S. military has long played a vital role in securing the nation's sovereignty—and still must, especially given the continuing security and humanitarian crisis at the Southern border. The DOD must do this by supporting law enforcement and homeland security agencies' efforts to monitor and interdict traffic at the U.S. border. It must also provide support for regional partners in the shared fight against traffickers and options for direct action against related threats.

But defending the U.S. homeland will not be enough by itself to protect America's security, prosperity, and freedom. To do that, the United States must also deny China's bid for hegemony in the Indo-Pacific. If the United States fails in this mission, then Beijing will be able to restrict Americans' access to many of the world's most important markets with dire implications for American workers and producers. Beijing will also be able to harness the region's wealth for its own purposes, fueling China's rise in the face of domestic challenges and ultimately positioning Beijing to contend for global hegemony.

This grim future can be avoided—and the U.S. military has a vital and unique role to play in doing so. If Beijing believes that it will be permitted to use military force to subdue its neighbors, then that is what it will do. The DOD's task is to make clear that it cannot—thereby deterring Chinese aggression and rallying the nations of the Indo-Pacific to resist China's imperial advances.

To that end, the DOD should retain a single-war force planning construct adopted by the 2018 National Defense Strategy (NDS) and upheld by the 2022 NDS with China as the DOD's pacing threat and a Chinese *fait accompli* against Taiwan as its pacing scenario. Consistent with this framework, the DOD will prioritize urgently strengthening U.S. and allied forces' ability to deny a successful Chinese operation against Taiwan by rapidly dispersing U.S. forces in the Western Pacific, intensifying intelligence-gathering about Chinese forces, and building stockpiles of weapons in the region needed by U.S. forces to deny a Chinese invasion. The DOD will also support interagency efforts to prioritize arming Taiwan.

Strengthening Burden-Sharing to Deter Russia, Iran, and North Korea. Prioritizing China does not mean ignoring other threats, but if the DOD is to defend the U.S. homeland and deny China's imperial ambitions, it will be forced to do less in other areas. In Europe, that will require dramatic changes in the North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO). As it stands, allies expect the United States to provide many of the forces required to deter or defeat a Russian assault on NATO's eastern front, but many of those finite forces are also needed to deter or defeat China. As a result, as long as Washington is prioritizing China, it will be unable to provide these forces for Europe on the scale the continent expects.

This is the reality with which NATO must grapple—and U.S. allies must do so quickly. Specifically, they must take primary responsibility for Europe's conventional defense by fielding most, if not all, of the conventional forces required to deter or deny Russian aggression against the Baltics, Poland, or Finland. This will allow NATO to deter Russia even as the DOD reassigns certain forces to the Indo-Pacific and divests itself of other capabilities.

At the same time, NATO allies must also take the lead in providing military aid to Ukraine, which will require additional arms to offset or overcome Russia's manpower and materiel advantages for an indeterminate period of time. This will be vital to free U.S. stockpiles and production capacity especially as the U.S. defense industry ramps up from its post–Cold War nadir—for higher priorities such as homeland defense, deterring China, and assistance to Israel.

The DOD must facilitate this transfer of responsibilities within NATO in coordination with other U.S. agencies. It should do so first by identifying forces requiring replacement, supporting U.S. and allied efforts to field those forces, and setting clear timelines for the transfer of certain U.S. forces from Europe to incentivize allied investments. U.S. forces will still provide an extended nuclear deterrent to NATO. Finally, the DOD should provide select conventional forces to NATO that do not detract from its ability to deter China.

The DOD will also support similar measures to support allies and partners in the Middle East. That support starts with providing Israel with the arms, intelligence, and other support that it requires to defend itself against Iran and its proxies. The DOD will work with other agencies to expedite delivery of weapons and other support to partners in the Gulf even as it leads efforts to enhance integration between Israel and those Gulf partners. Under this approach, Washington—the DOD in particular—will prepare regional partners to lead efforts to deter and defend against Iranian aggression, building on the progress of the Abraham Accords and related initiatives.⁵

U.S. forces will still play an important role in the Middle East, including by maintaining—or, as required, by developing—the ability to hold Iran's nuclear facilities at risk. U.S. forces must maintain the ability to impose severe costs on Iran's leaders lest they believe they can harm Americans or U.S. interests with impunity. U.S. forces also will be required to neutralize terrorists who might strike the U.S. homeland.

Finally, the United States has an interest in deterring North Korea, even as it prioritizes homeland defense, and denying China's imperial ambitions. To that end, in coordination with other U.S. agencies, the DOD will keep working to prepare South Korea to take the lead in defending against a North Korean invasion. At the same time, the DOD will work with counterparts in South Korea and Japan to develop and field a larger array of cost-effective theater missile defenses while also strengthening U.S. homeland missile defenses and fielding a more diverse set of U.S. nuclear options. These investments will help to deter—or, if necessary, to limit damage caused by—North Korean attacks on the United States or U.S. allies.

Hard Choices. Even if the United States raises defense spending significantly in the coming years, it will take years more to convert those spending increases into combat power. The United States will therefore be required to rely more heavily on its allies and partners to deter and defend against threats from Russia, Iran, and North Korea while U.S. forces focus first on defending the U.S. homeland and denying China's imperial ambitions.

This is an uncomfortable reality for many in Washington—but it is a reality nonetheless. If the U.S. sets the right priorities, there is every reason to believe that it will be able to defend the homeland effectively while also denying China's imperial ambitions and strengthening alliances and partnerships in the face of persistent threats from Russia, Iran, North Korea, and others. If the U.S. does not set the right priorities—if it persists in overextending U.S. forces, thereby weakening not only U.S. defenses, but also any incentives that allies and partners might have to strengthen their own—then the U.S. should only expect further chaos and war as it has begun to see in recent years.

Resourcing the Strategy of Denial

A strategy of denial will be possible only if the military is adequately resourced with the ships, planes, and munitions it needs. The conservative defense budget therefore supports:

- \$6.2 billion for the *Columbia*-class ballistic missile submarine;
- \$5.3 billion for the B-21 bomber;
- \$61.1 billion for air power focused on F-22, F-35, and F-15EX fighters,

the B-21 bomber, mobility aircraft, KC-46A tankers, and unmanned aircraft systems;

- \$48.1 billion for sea-power investments with new construction of nine battle force fleet ships including one *Columbia*-class submarine and two *Virginia*-class submarines, two *Arleigh Burke*-class destroyers, and two *Constellation*-class guided-missile frigates;
- \$33.3 billion in vital space capabilities, resilient architectures, and enhanced space command and control.

In addition:

- The F-35 program is developing, producing, and fielding three variants of a 5th generation strike fighter: (1) the Air Force F-35A Conventional Take-Off and Landing variant; (2) the Marine Corps F-35B Short–Take Off and Vertical Landing (STOVL) variant; and (3) the Navy F-35C Carrier variant. The F-35's stealth, advanced sensors, and interoperability allow seamless information exchanges that make all warfighters in the battlespace smarter, more lethal, and more survivable.
- The FY 2025 conservative defense budget continues procurement of the KC-46A aerial refueling tanker, which will replace aging legacy tankers. The KC-46A provides increased refueling capability for Navy and Air Force aircraft. The conservative defense budget funds the Air Force's replacement of its aging fleet of E-3 Sentry Airborne Warning and Control System aircraft with a version of the E-7 Wedgetail.
- The FY 2025 conservative budget funds development of the B-21 Raider long-range strike bomber and modernization of the existing bomber fleet of B-52s, B-1s, and B-2s. The budget funds B-52 mission systems and communications upgrades as well as replacement for the B-52's inefficient and aging engines.
- The FY 2025 conservative budget continues incremental funding for the *Gerald R. Ford*-class nuclear aircraft carriers—the USS *John F. Kennedy* (CVN 79); USS *Enterprise* (CVN 80); and USS *Doris Miller* (CVN 81)—and accelerates procurement of one landing helicopter assault (LHA) *America*-class amphibious assault ship from FY 2031 to FY 2027. The FY 2025 request also continues funding for systems

development for Landing Craft Air Cushion (LCAC) 101; a Service Life Extension Program (SLEP) and recapitalization of the Landing Craft Utility (LCU) 1700 to support amphibious assault capability; procurement of two guided-missile destroyers (DDG) 51 Flight III variant ships; two new *Constellation*-class frigates to address the Navy's small-surface-combatant requirements for a more lethal and capable follow-on to the Littoral Combat Ship. In addition, it expands sea-power strike capacity by continuing funding for offensively armed unmanned surface vessels (USVs) and unmanned undersea vehicles (UUVs) and also provides funding for one additional fleet replenishment oiler ship (T-AO) to continue recapitalizing these important assets.

2. The Deterrence Component of Denial

Modernizing the nation's strategic deterrent is the Department of Defense's top priority, and these programs are funded in the FY 2025 conservative budget request. The DOD has steadily received strong, bipartisan congressional support for the nuclear deterrence modernization mission. Most of the nation's strategic arsenal, including warheads and delivery systems, built in the 1980s and prior years, are reaching or are already beyond their end of service life, with all currently fielded systems having been extended significantly—in some cases, decades past their service lives.

Replacement programs are underway to ensure that there are no gaps in capability when the legacy systems age out. Such programs are necessary but wholly insufficient to deter strategic attacks on the United States and its allies. The nuclear modernization program of record of modernizing the triad must be augmented by a larger and more diversified nuclear arsenal given the breathtaking expansion of the Chinese nuclear arsenal, the almost daily nuclear threats emanating from Moscow, North Korea's steady expansion of its nuclear capabilities, and Iran's status as a near-nuclear power.⁶

Recapitalizing the nuclear warheads and delivery systems and associated support systems within the existing nuclear modernization program of record, coupled with a larger and more diverse nuclear arsenal, will require an increase in spending over the next 20 years.⁷

The Program of Record

The following are the current components of the U.S. nuclear triad and the plans for its modernization.

The Sentinel LGM-35 Missile. The Sentinel will replace the Minuteman (MM) III intercontinental ballistic missile (ICBM), which was supposed to be retired in the 1980s. The Sentinel program includes new flight, command-and-control, and ground systems, as well as conversion, modernization, and replacement of the MM III infrastructure, beginning in 2030.

The Long-Range Standoff (LRSO) Cruise Missile. The LRSO will replace the AGM-86B Air Launched Cruise Missile, which entered service in 1982 and was supposed to be retired in the 1990s. The LRSO weapon system will be capable of penetrating and surviving advanced Integrated Air Defense Systems from significant standoff ranges to hold strategic targets at risk in support of the Air Force's nuclear deterrence operations core mission. The LRSO is also critical as a hedge against risks both in the other, more complicated nuclear-deterrence-system development programs and in the enhancement of the credibility of the DOD deterrent to assure U.S. allies.

The *Columbia*-Class Ballistic Missile Submarine (SSBN). The *Columbia*-class SSBN is being developed to replace the *Ohio*-class SSBN starting in October 2030. The Navy will sustain the *Ohio*-class to ensure a smooth transition for the sea-based leg of the triad with the *Columbia*-class SSBN.

The Trident II (D5) Submarine-Launched Ballistic Missile (SLBM) Life Extension (D5LE). The D5LE program extends the service life of the D5 SLBM and will be deployed on both *Ohio*-class and *Columbia*-class SSBNs.

The B-21 Raider Strategic Bomber. The B-21 Raider is being developed to acquire an affordable, long-range, penetrating aircraft that incorporates proven, mature technologies. This bomber represents a key component of the joint portfolio of conventional and nuclear deep-strike capabilities. Given the centrality of the B-21 to both deterrence and conventional operations, the Administration requests 300 of these platforms.

F-35A Dual-Capable Aircraft (DCA). The F-35A DCA will replace the Air Force's F-15 DCA to support extended deterrence. The F-35A DCA is scheduled to achieve nuclear certification in FY 2024.

The Nuclear-Armed Sea-Launched Cruise Missile (SLCM-N). The SLCM-N provides an additional, flexible, regionally present sea-based survivable option to fill a gap in U.S. deterrence capabilities. While air-based nuclear weapons remain a critical part of U.S. strategy, a sea-based regional nuclear missile bolsters existing capabilities and deters aggression at the theater level.

Nuclear Warhead Production Led by the National Nuclear Security Administration (NNSA). The United States is falling behind in its ability to produce new nuclear warheads to replace those that are now several decades old.⁸ The United States currently is seeking to produce 80 plutonium pits a year by 2026 to replace the current inventory, although it is unlikely that this will be possible before 2030. Given the deteriorating state of the security environment coupled with the nuclear breakout underway in China, as well as the growing nuclear threats from Russia, North Korea, and Iran, the Department of Energy must produce no fewer than 200 operationally deployable new nuclear warheads by no later than 2034.

Beyond the Program of Record: Revitalizing America's Strategic Deterrent

The current nuclear program of record is necessary but insufficient to guarantee American security by deterring strategic attack given the expansion of U.S. adversaries' strategic nuclear systems. Moreover, given U.S. adversaries' expansion of theater-range, non-strategic nuclear systems, reinvesting in America's non-strategic nuclear arsenal is critical not only to reducing the chances of a strategic attack on the American homeland, but also to deterring adversaries from believing that they can achieve their objectives through conventional aggression in the first place.

Put simply, if U.S. adversaries enjoy an advantage in theater nuclear capabilities—as is currently the case in Europe and the Indo-Pacific—they could initiate conventional conflict against U.S. allies believing that, should they find themselves on the losing end of such a conflict, they could use their theater-range non-strategic nuclear arsenals to salvage victory from the jaws of defeat. By fielding a credible, theater-range non-strategic arsenal, the United States could deny its adversaries the ability to escalate their way out of a conflict using nuclear weapons—and therefore deter conventional conflict in the first place.

Therefore, the DOD must begin a program to improve its understanding of deterrence strategies that are optimized to address the growing threat environment, to include targeting opportunities and challenges and the requisite types of capabilities needed to deter adversary conventional aggression or nuclear coercion. This analysis must identify which additional capabilities are needed and when the United States needs them given the emerging two-peer and two-rogue (2+2) nuclear threat environment of the 2030s.

Such analysis must examine the need to field an additional, assured second-strike capability; the potential need for *Columbia*-class ballistic missile submarines; and the need for additional theater nuclear capabilities, to include mobile, theater-range land-attack systems and anti-ship systems, and rapidly fieldable air-launched standoff nuclear cruise missiles that can be employed by fighter-bombers in the immediate term.

In addition, given the de facto death of the New START nuclear arms control treaty, the DOD should take steps now so that, on order and in a short period, it can place additional nuclear warheads on existing ICBMs and re-open and upload missiles onto shuttered missile tubes on *Ohio*-class ballistic missile submarines. The DOD should also examine potential sites for future nuclear munitions storage facilities in Korea and Japan should the threat environment in Northeast Asia deteriorate to the point where the United States must forward deploy nuclear munitions to deter strategic threats from North Korea and China.

In total, the DOD should analyze the implications of the two-peer nuclear problem and identify the requisite arsenal and missile defense architecture of the future. The DOD should report to Congress on the outputs of said analysis no later than 180 days after the passage of the National Defense Authorization Act (NDAA).⁹

Missile Defeat and Defense

As noted, the DOD must strengthen defenses against cruise and ballistic missile threats. While homeland missile defenses in the past were limited—focusing on rudimentary ballistic missile threats posed by rogue states such as North Korea and Iran—the time has come to focus on limiting the missile threats to the U.S homeland from *all* actors.

China's expansion of its ICBM force combined with Russia's near-daily threats of nuclear coercion against its neighbors—including NATO allies means that the United States must prepare for scenarios in which its peer adversaries may try to employ a limited number of non-strategic nuclear weapons against the American homeland to terminate a conflict on terms favorable to them. Advanced, integrated, multi-layered missile defenses that can intercept limited strikes of up to 100 missiles from peer competitors can deter adversaries from even considering such strikes. Given the advancements in cheap space-lift technologies and large-scale rapid computing within the private sector, the United States has an opportunity to develop and field effective missile defenses against its peer adversaries.

The DOD must develop and deploy an integrated, comprehensive, layered missile defense architecture that incorporates flexibility, adaptability, tighter offense–defense integration and interoperability, rapidity of development and deployment of new capabilities, and the importance of space. While missile defenses have advanced, the United States must develop an even more diversified set of missile defeat and defense (MDD) capabilities to counter the advancing threat.

This *Special Report* recommends funding increases in U.S. MDD capabilities to defend the homeland, deployed forces, allies, and partners against an increasingly complex adversarial missile threat. It further requests increases in missile defense capacity and capability to keep pace with advancing threats not only from rogue states, but from peer adversaries as well. At the same time, the DOD must invest in new alternative approaches to a layered defense of the homeland. The FY 2025 conservative defense budget request includes \$23.3 billion for MDD, which includes \$9.8 billion for the Missile Defense Agency (MDA), \$8.4 billion in regional and strategic missile defense capabilities outside the MDA, and \$3.6 billion in missile defeat or left-of-launch activities.

The MDA is pursuing a layered homeland defense approach that will include development of a Next Generation Interceptor (NGI) for Ground-Based Interceptors (GBI) and improvements in current regional defense systems to enable limited defense underlayer capabilities at key homeland and overseas locations. The NGI will improve system survivability and performance against projected threats. In addition, the MDA will analyze the cost and feasibility of rapidly fielding a space-based missile defense overlayer that is capable of intercepting missile threats in the boost phase of launch, regardless of the origin of the missile launch, using space-based missile interceptors.

Improvements in current regional defense systems will include an assessment of the Aegis ballistic missile defense (BMD) weapon system and SM-3 Block IIA missile to augment homeland defenses to defeat ICBM threats. Also, the MDA will initiate the development and demonstration of a new Terminal High Altitude Area Defense (THAAD) interceptor prototype to support Contiguous United States Defense as part of the layered homeland defense. This program will develop prototype software and hardware and perform a series of demonstrations to prove the technologies to enable expansion of engagement options and coverage areas for the THAAD weapon system in a flight test in FY 2025. The conservative budget supports completion of an additional missile field in Alaska to enable an operational fleet of 44 GBIs and 20 NGIs in the foreseeable future.

This *Special Report* reflects the DOD's commitment to building integrated regional missile defenses that are interoperable with systems deployed by international partners to protect deployed forces, allies, and international partners against short-range ballistic missiles (SRBMs); medium-range ballistic missiles (MRBMs); and intermediate-range ballistic missiles (IRBMs).

For U.S. missile defense capabilities, the FY 2025 conservative defense budget request:

- **Leverages** existing architectures and regional defense systems to demonstrate complementary homeland defense underlay capabilities. If the demonstrations are successful, homeland defense underlay systems could begin fielding as early as 2027.
- **Supports** the U.S. Forces Korea (USFK) to improve missile defense capability on the Korean Peninsula.
- **Supports** hypersonic defense programs and continues to assess architecture alternatives and provide recommendations for Regional Glide Phase Weapon System (RGPWS) missile defense configurations to keep pace with evolving threats. The DOD will pursue hypersonic threat defense weapons systems and leverage and upgrade existing systems while developing and maturing component technologies that augment hypersonic defense architectures.
- **Matures** advanced component technology against ballistic targets and advanced threats to improve weapon system performance and operational utility.
- **Continues**, in alignment with the Navy, to support and operate the Aegis Ashore site in Romania and deployment of a second site in Poland as an integral part of NATO's BMD architecture.
- **Continues** to increase BMD capability and capacity of the Aegis fleet and procures 100 Standard Missile-3 (SM-3) Block IB missiles to be deployed on Aegis BMD ships and at Aegis Ashore sites as part of a multiyear procurement; continues integration of the SM-3 Block IIA into the Aegis BMD weapon systems; procures 40 SM-3 Block IIA missiles to contribute to defense against longer-range and more complex threats; and continues development of the sea-based terminal capability to protect the fleet and forces ashore.
- **Provides** funding for THAAD development and software upgrades such as implementation of flexible threat packages and defense

planning; improved capability to engage SRBM, MRBM, and limited IRBM threats; and integration of the THAAD battery capability into the Army's Integrated Air and Missile Defense Battle Command System (IBCS) planning process. The THAAD budget request also includes funding for the procurement of 41 THAAD interceptors as well as for operating support to maintain BMD-unique items of fielded THAAD batteries and for training devices.

- **Provides** funding to perform the systems engineering required to design, build, test, assess, and field the integrated missile defense system (MDS).
- **Provides** funding to analyze and fast-track the fielding of a spacebased missile interceptor overlayer that can intercept ballistic missiles while in boost phase regardless of point of origin.
- **Provides** funding to execute a comprehensive, highly integrated, complex, cost-effective series of flight tests, ground tests, cybersecurity tests, war games, and exercises to ensure that MDS capabilities are credibly demonstrated and validated before delivery to the warfighter.
- **Continues** support for Israeli Cooperative BMD Programs, including funding for the Iron Dome MDS to defeat short-range missiles and rockets, and co-development and co-production of the David's Sling weapon system and Arrow-3 System.
- **Invests** in the Air Force and Space Force to upgrade and sustain strategic and tactical warning and tracking systems.
- **Invests** in the Navy with a focus on ship-based defense for regional and strategic threats. These investments include the Aegis BMD weapon system; Standard Missile procurement for cruise, ballistic, and hypersonic missile defense; and E-2D Hawkeye sensor capabilities.

3. Overseas Operations

In defense of American interests, the U.S. military conducts operations overseas. The U.S. President and Congress must carefully husband military resources by focusing on what is primary and avoiding strategic distraction.

The Indo-Pacific

China is the primary challenge to American security, and the Indo-Pacific should therefore be the focus of U.S. military operations.

- The DOD and other U.S. government agencies should intensify intelligence-gathering about Chinese forces to allow the United States to engage high-value targets quickly in the event of a conflict.
- The United States must surge production of weapons needed by U.S. forces to deter or defeat a Chinese invasion of Taiwan, including long-range anti-ship, land-attack, and air-to-air missiles, as well as air and missile defenses.
- The United States must prioritize arming Taiwan with asymmetric defense capabilities, including by surging production and accelerating delivery of anti-ship missiles, naval mines, mobile air and missile defenses, long-range precision fires, anti-armor weapons, unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs), and associated training and other support, while ensuring that Taipei takes all necessary steps to strengthen Taiwan's defenses as quickly as possible. This will include prioritizing Taiwan for security assistance using Presidential Drawdown Authority (PDA) and Foreign Military Financing (FMF) as well as War Reserve Stock authorities.¹⁰
- The DOD and other U.S. government agencies must accelerate the hardening and dispersal of U.S. operating locations in the Western Pacific, including Japan, the Philippines, Australia, and U.S. territories such as Guam and the Northern Marianas, to complicate Chinese targeting and maximize U.S. forces' ability to evade or withstand Chinese bombardment.
- The DOD must take full advantage of dispersed basing by accelerating development and implementation of concepts for distributed operations, including service-specific programs like the Marines' Expeditionary Advance Based Operations and the Air Force's Agile Combat Employment, along with enabling concepts, including for contested logistics.

- The DOD must evaluate options to shift weapons from other regions to the Indo-Pacific, with particular attention to submarines, air and missile defenses, and other assets that will be vital for denying a Chinese offensive and that make it easier for the U.S. to swing quickly into the region once a crisis or war begins.
- The DOD must prioritize breaking through submarine and ship maintenance backlogs so that these vessels are available for the current period of increased tensions while accelerating production of key submarines, ships, and aircraft, including tankers and lift assets, to the extent possible given industrial constraints.
- The DOD must evaluate options for keeping older platforms at sea or in the air until it can field replacements at scale, such as selectively recapitalizing older guided-missile cruisers to augment Guam missile defenses, even if they cannot fight forward in the Philippine Sea, or extending the service lives of older but still capable assets like the *Los Angeles*-class attack submarines.
- The DOD must accelerate adoption and development of new capabilities that could make a difference in this decade, such as ground-based long-range precision fires to be fielded at scale by the Army and Marine Corps in the Western Pacific, along with their enablers; important unmanned air, surface, and undersea systems, which could be used for a combination of sensing, targeting, and strike functions; and resilient military or dual-use satellite constellations.¹¹
- The DOD must update U.S. nuclear doctrine, force structure, force posture, and plans as part of broader efforts to expand and diversify U.S. nuclear forces to provide the President with limited nuclear options that he can use to deter or manage escalation following Chinese theater nuclear use.¹²

Europe

As the U.S. pivots to the Indo–Pacific, allied nations in Europe must take primary responsibility for their own security. Specifically:

• The United States must focus on the Indo-Pacific and will need to shift funding, equipment, and personnel away from Europe

and to the Indo-Pacific. Funding, equipment, and personnel that have previously been allocated to the U.S. European Command (EUCOM) will need to shift to the U.S. Indo-Pacific Command (INDOPACOM).

- The United States will nevertheless maintain bases and troops in Europe and remains committed to NATO. The Alliance continues to be the primary guarantor of security in the North Atlantic.
- European countries must spend more on their militaries, hitting at least 2 percent of GDP spending on their defense budgets while striving for 3 percent. There has been modest but welcome progress on this front by some NATO members since the invasion of Ukraine, but many are still falling short, and increased defense spending will be necessary for years to come to make up for the lack of attention that European countries and Canada have paid to their militaries over the past several decades.
- European countries must lead on military aid to Ukraine. The United States must prioritize deterring China in the Indo-Pacific, and European countries must take primary responsibility for European security.
- The United States should work closely with NATO allies to deter aggression in Europe. Germany is planning to station a permanent brigade in Lithuania. This is a positive development, and the U.S. should encourage it. Other European nations should volunteer to build permanent bases in Estonia and Latvia if Estonia and Latvia agree to host them.

The Middle East

The United States must not allow attacks on its forces in the Middle East or anywhere else. The failure of the Biden Administration to respond forcefully to attacks on American personnel has emboldened U.S. adversaries and makes future attacks more likely. The DOD and the U.S. should:

• **Consolidate** existing forces. Consolidation of existing combined task forces in the region will reduce redundancies in

command-and-control and sustainment while also consolidating intelligence, surveillance, and reconnaissance (ISR) resources.

- **Equip** U.S. partners in the region. The U.S. should reduce the need for direct American involvement in the region through foreign military sales to friendly and responsible partners.
- **Consolidate** the existing basing constellation. The DOD should consolidate basing infrastructure in the region to pool resources and move U.S. personnel into areas that are less vulnerable to Iranian missiles and drones.
- **Engage** in track-two efforts with U.S. partners and allies. This may complement existing U.S. efforts to build a more sustainable regional security construct.

4. Building Enduring Advantages

The U.S. military must invest in the well-being of its service members both because it is the right thing to do, and because these soldiers, sailors, airmen, and marines are the future of the force.

Supporting the Troops

The conservative budget request supports the officially requested 4.5 percent pay raise for the troops. The conservative budget also increases spending for family housing in all three military departments. This additional spending is intended to address the appalling living conditions at some family housing units that have come to light across the force.¹³

Critically, the conservative defense budget calls for \$400 million in reallocated spending to improve housing conditions for American servicemembers and their families. At the House Armed Services Committee Quality of Life Panel in 2023, the Director of Defense Capabilities and Management at the Government Accountability Office (GAO) testified that military housing had mold, sewage overflows, pest infestations, and multiple instances of unsafe conditions. The Biden Administration is paying \$2.5 billion in taxpayer funds for Immigration and Customs Enforcement to house illegal migrants but failed to allocate sufficient resources within the official budget request to address these issues. Unacceptably, family housing funding for the Air Force and Navy *decreased* in the official budget.¹⁴

Recruiting

The national recruiting crisis is a threat to national security. The Army in particular has fallen short of its recruiting goals since 2018.¹⁵

- A declining number of Americans are qualified for service, many average Americans are concerned about politicization within the military, and there is a declining sense of patriotism among America's young people.
- Obesity has become one of the top medically disqualifying conditions for prospective recruits—a negative trend that is likely to continue as adolescent obesity rates are expected to increase to 24.2 percent by 2030, up from 21 percent in 2017. If the military hopes to address and overcome this challenge, it needs to engage with American youth much earlier. Congress should provide funding for the military to increase the number of programs available to help prospective recruits lose weight at the recruiting office before shipping out to basic training. The military could also establish stronger partnerships between recruiters and high school physical education classes.¹⁶
- Recruiting messages should focus on the importance of service and duty. Many American servicemembers belong to generational military families and join out of a deep, heartfelt sense of patriotism and duty to country.
- Student debt has become a major issue for young people nationwide. Those worried about student debt need to know that the GI Bill offers them a way to finish a four-year college degree or technical certification from a vocational school without incurring debt. Military veterans receive the full cost of public, in-state tuition and fees and partial or full funding at private universities. Full-time students also receive money for housing and books while attending classes.¹⁷

Major Defense Reforms

The DOD must cut waste and spend money as efficiently as possible. Defense spending is designed to defend the interests of the American people, and this includes being a good steward of the taxpayers' dollars. Out-ofcontrol federal spending and the ever-increasing national debt threaten the economic security of the nation, and wasteful spending undermines public confidence in the DOD. The DOD must cut or relocate wasteful and non-defense spending and identify new efficiencies within the defense budget.

Major Internal Reallocation. This conservative defense budget moves \$18.8 billion out of defense-wide Operations and Maintenance and RDT&E accounts into the Procurement and O&M accounts of the Navy, the Air Force, and the Army. The intent is for less money to be spent on the bureaucracies at the departments and more money to be spent on real military capability for the warfighter.

Delivering Capability. Every RDT&E program should be constantly evaluated to ensure that it is progressing toward necessary fielded capability. RDT&E programs often spend years, even decades, in the research and development phases without delivering any warfighting capability. Certainly, some technologies that initially appeared promising do not pan out, but the DOD should be required to conduct more frequent reviews of program progress.

Any program that has been in RDT&E longer than three years should be brought up for consideration and potential elimination if it has not transitioned to an acquisition program. This would not affect long-term programs like NGAD. Instead, it would focus spending and effort on the most critical projects that are most likely to become military programs of record and deliver a new capability to the force.

Contracting Reform. There are potential areas for savings in contracting reform. Section 1244 of the FY 2023 NDAA removed munitions contracting requirements to allow a faster response in Ukraine. Current contracting requirements are burdensome and have grown over time. The Advisory Panel on Streamlining and Codifying Acquisition Regulations (also known as the Section 809 Panel) performed some work in this area, but more is needed. Reducing contracting requirements would increase speed and save billions.

One problem is that any time a contractor does something unethical or costly to the DOD, instead of punishing one bad actor, Congress or the DOD creates new regulations meant to prevent the same thing from happening again even though 99.9 percent of other contractors did not engage in similarly bad behavior and even though the bad actor may have been flaunting some already existing regulation. Offending firms should be held more firmly to existing standards and subjected to congressional scrutiny when found to be in violation. Put another way, any large defense contractor engaging in unethical practices should be publicly shamed both to encourage it to reform and to deter other contractors from engaging in similar behavior.¹⁸

Under Secretaries of Defense (USD) and Deputy Assistant Secretaries of Defense (DASD). USD and DASD positions should not be created unless others are eliminated on a one-for-one basis in order to prevent bureaucratic bloat and duplication of efforts across the Department of Defense. Congress should implement a one-for-one rule for creation of new USD or DASD positions.

Professional Military Education (PME). PME schools are expensive to run, and military personnel can often receive the same education from private universities. PME schools should not be eliminated entirely, as many of them are necessary to an educated officer corps, but their overall numbers can be reduced, and their delivery of training and education can be modified. Officers should be permitted to attend only PME schools that are tied to their career paths. Congress should ask the GAO for a report on the total number of PME schools and their enrollment and the feasibility of proposals to reduce the overall number. The education being funded must fit within the officer's career path and provide a benefit to the DOD. There is no critical need, for example, to send medical officers to a war college to study the history of grand strategy and warfare. There should be a demonstrable mission purpose behind the education being funded.¹⁹

Additionally, the FY 2025 conservative defense budget endorses the following reforms in President Biden's FY 2025 defense budget request:²⁰

- **O&M Unobligated Balance Carryover.** This proposed general provision would allow the DOD to carry over up to 50 percent of unobligated balances in the O&M account into the next fiscal year. This change reinforces good fiscal stewardship by giving financial managers a tool they can use to make better year-end spending decisions and enables the DOD to respond to emergent requirements.
- **Two-Year Permanent Change of Station (PCS) Funding.** This proposal (to change appropriations language) changes the PCS funding availability period from one to two years in the military personnel appropriations for the Active Components. This change maximizes the use of PCS funds, which typically cross fiscal years because of the seasonal nature of PCS moves, and minimizes the unexpended balances in the military personnel appropriations for the Active Components, ultimately allowing the DOD to maximize the use of congressionally appropriated funds for their intended purpose.

- National Guard 2 Percent Carryover. This proposal (to change appropriations language) allows a percentage of National Guard funding to carry over into the following fiscal year to address emerging National Guard missions without undermining core baseline training requirements.
- **O&M, Defense-Wide, Civil Military Program (CMP) Enhancement.** This proposed general provision allows any excess funds not needed for a specific CMP project to be transferred back to the originating appropriation for use on another project. This flexibility ensures maximum execution of the Innovative Readiness Training opportunities that will help to increase deployment readiness while simultaneously providing key services with lasting benefits for our American communities.
- **Health Care Transformational Fund.** This proposed general provision allows the Defense Health Program (DHP) to transfer unobligated balances of expiring discretionary funds in any of its accounts into a Transformational Fund. This change helps the DHP to target structural investments, such as the backlog in Facilities Sustainment, Restoration, and Modernization, and enables the DOD to maximize its health care investments without additional topline increases.

Depoliticizing the Department of Defense

The American military is not a social laboratory. It is the guarantor of the American people's safety and prosperity and as such needs to prioritize lethality over other considerations. Non-defense spending and initiatives should not be included in the defense budget.

Under the Biden Administration, all manner of woke policies have been forced on the DOD. These hyperpolitical, left-wing policies distract the military from its core mission and cause division within the force. These policies alienate conservative Americans and contribute to the recruiting crisis.

American servicemembers are subjected to training sessions on inane concepts such as the correct use of personal pronouns according to the latest gender theory. American servicemembers are taught that America is fatally flawed because of systemic racism and white privilege—left-wing ideological concepts with their roots in the Marxist tenets of critical race theory. West Point cadets have to attend lectures with titles like "Understanding Whiteness and White Rage." Such policies are divisive and demoralizing and have no place in the American military.²¹

The FY 2025 conservative defense budget includes recommendations that the DOD:

- **Eliminate** all diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI) initiatives and positions.
- **Eliminate** all climate change initiatives and positions. The current Pentagon leadership has stated that climate change will touch every aspect of the department's planning. While energy and electricity are of paramount importance in every aspect of military operations, the reliability of energy sources is more important than their carbon emissions. In many of the environments where the Pentagon operates, such as Alaska, having energy is a matter of life and death. Congress should prioritize mission needs when evaluating incoming energy proposals from the Administration.
- **Make** all physical fitness tests gender neutral. Physical fitness is a key aspect of military readiness, especially in combat roles.
- **Strive** to be apolitical. Military officers should avoid weighing in on sensitive political issues. Senior military officials, by inserting their views into culture-war issues over the past several years, have decreased the American people's traditional esteem for and trust in the military.
- Refuse to fund abortions either directly or indirectly.

5. Munitions

Precision-guided munitions (PGMs) are an instrumental component of warfighting. Without them, high-end platforms such as F-35s and *Virgin-ia*-class submarines are nearly useless.²²

From Operation Inherent Resolve to Ukraine, the past decade has provided substantial evidence that U.S. munitions planning, procurement, and war reserves are insufficient to task—a problem that Congress and the Pentagon have failed to address adequately.

Recommendations for Procurement

The following recommendations for procurement are based on a combination of historical information and data, cost, production capacity, estimated current reserves, and the current threat matrix.²³ While production capacity influences recommendations, recommendations are meant to stretch past capacity and send signals to industry to boost production urgently.²⁴

The MK-48 Torpedo. The MK-48 Torpedo is a heavy, submarine-launched anti-ship munition. The last time torpedoes were in significant use was during World War II. From 1939 to 1945, the U.S. produced 57,653 torpedoes. Those torpedoes were highly prone to failure and do not provide a strong basis for comparison in terms of need.

An examination of U.S. launch capacity based on the number of torpedo tubes provides a better method of estimation. With fewer than 400 MK-48 MOD-7 torpedoes procured through 2023 and more than 200 torpedo tubes on America's attack submarines, it becomes apparent that the number of MK-48 torpedoes in the U.S. inventory is insufficient for a major naval war, let alone to account for training, testing, and attrition.

Procurement of the MK-48 torpedo should be increased.

Air-to-Air: Sidewinders and Advanced Medium-Range Air-to-Air Missile (AMRAAM). The AIM-9(X) Block II Sidewinder and the AMRAAM are air-launched missiles designed to destroy enemy aircraft.

According to the official FY 2025 Presidential Budget Request, the U.S. has procured fewer than 5,000 non-training AIM-9(X) and 15,000 non-training AMRAAMs through 2024. In total, that generates a maximum of 20,000 AIM-9(X) missiles in U.S. arsenals—a number that is likely a significant overestimate due to attrition. China alone has more than 3,000 military aircraft—not to mention numerous UAVs. Given that not all airto-air missiles will result in a kill (in Vietnam, the rate was less than 15 percent), and given the need to field air-to-air missiles in multiple theaters, U.S. air-to-air missile stocks are woefully insufficient.

Procurement of air-to-air missiles should be increased.

The SM-2, the SM-6, and the Tomahawk. The United States has not engaged in a major naval conflict since World War II before the advent of PGMs. The SM-2 and SM-6 are interceptors designed to shoot down incoming missiles and objects. The SM-6 can also serve as an anti-ship missile. Tomahawk Land Attack Missiles (TLAMs) are primarily standoff ground-attack munitions, but in their Maritime Strike variant, they can also strike naval targets. All are launched through vertical-launch cells, of

TABLE 2

Funding for Munitions Procurement

Budget figures are in millions of dollars.

	Offi FY 2024		Official FY 2025 Request		Conservative FY 2025 Request		Offical FY 2024- 2025	Conservative FY 2024-2025
Weapon System	Quantity	Budget Request	Quantity	Budget Request	Quantity	Budget Request	Quantity Change	Quantity Change
Precision Strike Missile (PrSM)	110	\$657	230	\$677	400	\$1,100	120	290
Joint Air-to-Surface Standoff Missile (JASSM)	550	\$1,819	550	\$1,009	900	\$1,700	-	350
Advanced Medium Range Air-to-Air Missile (AMRAAM)	831	\$1,224	723	\$810	1,000	\$1,000	-108	169
Tomahawk	34	\$934	22	\$765	500	\$1,700	-12	466
Standard Missile-6	125	\$1,615	125	\$1,224	300	\$1,500	-	175
Longe Range Anti-Ship Missile (LRASM)	118	\$827	205	\$697	300	\$1,000	87	182
Guided Multiple Launch Rocket System (GMLRS)	_	\$1,027	-	\$1,242	-	\$1,242	-	_
Joint Air-to-Ground Missile (JAGM)	1,165	\$386	205	\$148	1,000	\$300	-960	-165

NOTES: Figures include Procurement and RDT&E dollars and quantities. Figures are estimates based on defense budget documents. **SOURCE:** U.S. Department of Defense, "Procurement Programs (P-1), Department of Defense Budget Fiscal Year 2025," March 2024, https:// comptroller.defense.gov/Portals/45/Documents/defbudget/FY2025/FY2025_p1.pdf (accessed March 27, 2024), and authors' calculations.

SR281 🖀 heritage.org

which there are roughly 8,500 in the U.S. surface fleet and another roughly 1,500 on U.S. submarines, capable only of TLAM launches.

By the end of 2023, roughly 12,000 SM-2s and 320 SM-3s had been procured. Since then, at least 2,700 have been used, and an unknown number have been lost to attrition. SM-6 procurement over time totals 1,431 through 2023, and an estimated 4,000 TLAMs are in the U.S. arsenal.

Given that the total number of Vertical Launching System (VLS)– launched munitions barely exceeds the number of VLS cells in the U.S. fleet, procurement should be increased with the SM-6 and Maritime Strike Tomahawk prioritized for their versatility and anti-ship capabilities. Joint Direct Attack Munition (JDAM), the Small Diameter Bomb (SDB), and the Joint Air-to Ground Missile (JAGM). JDAMs, SDBs, and the JAGM make up the lower-end munitions with utility in striking targets at closer range without substantial air-defense and electronic warfare capacity and capability.

Recent history provides a clear idea of how many JDAMs, SDBs, and JAGMs should be in war reserves in addition to expected use. Between 2015 and 2019, in Operation Inherent Resolve and Freedom Sentinel/Resolute Support, the U.S. released 112,457 and 26,553 munitions, respectively. While not all of those were PGMs, the vast majority are assumed to be so. In mid-2016, Lieutenant General Charles Brown stated that the Pentagon was determining "how we balance the weapons we have" and that some "risk analysis" needed to be done. That was after 41,500 munitions were released. In 2013 and 2014, procurement of JDAMs and SDMs totaled fewer than 15,000 per year. While a post-2017 production surge replenished some of these bombs, it likely did not expand war reserves sufficiently beyond what they were before 2015.

Procurement of JDAMs, SDBs, and JAGMs is a lower priority than most other munitions due to their relative abundance and lesser relevance in high-intensity conflict.

The Joint Air-to Surface Standoff Missile-Extended Range (JASSM-ER) and the Long Range Anti-Ship Missile (LRASM). The JASSM-ER is a standoff munition meant to strike land targets from the air at range. The LRASM is an anti-ship derivative of the JASSM.

There is no historical precedent to determine requirements for standoff weapons such as JASSM-ERs and LRASMs in a high-intensity conflict, but war games provide an idea of what might be required.

Analysis by the Center for Strategic and International Studies indicated that in the case of a U.S. intervention in a Chinese invasion of Taiwan, JASSM-ER and LRASM inventories would be exhausted in as little as eight days. While munitions expenditures at the beginning of a conflict are likely to exceed rates later in the conflict when key and time-sensitive targets have been destroyed, the need will not be eliminated.²⁵

Given that U.S. inventory only includes about 2,000 JASSM-ERs, procurement should be dramatically increased from the currently projected 550 per year.

LRASMs are even more important than JASSMs in case of a Chinese invasion of Taiwan because a cross-Strait attack is fundamentally dependent on naval capacity. For the U.S. to strike at the center of gravity of any invasion necessarily means targeting ships. The inventory of anti-ship munitions in the U.S. inventory consists of maritime-strike Tomahawks, SM-6s, and LRASMs. Only the LRASM is an airlaunched munition, and by the end of 2023, roughly 350 had been procured.

While there is a need to increase procurement of both JASSM-ERs and LRASMs, the need to acquire more LRASMs is more acute. Both JASSM-ERs and LRASMs are manufactured in the same facilities and have a high-degree of component commonality. When deciding between production capacity tradeoffs, LRASMs should be given higher priority than they are given at present.

Procurement of the JASSM-ER and LRASM must increase dramatically.

The Guided Multiple Launch Rocket System (GMLRS), the Javelin Missile, and the Precision Strike Missile (PrSM). The Army has three primary types of precision-guided munitions: the GMLRS, the Javelin, and the PrSM.

GMLRS rockets are launched by the high-mobility artillery rocket system (HIMARS) and other multiple-launch rocket systems (MLRS). The U.S. Army alone has more than 400 HIMARs and more than 200 MLRS systems. Each HIMARS can be loaded with six GMLRS, and an MLRS system can be loaded with 12. If, in a high-intensity conflict, even half of HIMARS and MLRS units are engaged and fire one volley per day, they will expend 2,400 GMLRS rockets. Meeting the demand for a six-month conflict would mean the expected expenditure of 432,000 rockets. Throughout program history, the U.S. has only procured roughly 70,000 GMLRS rockets—enough to sustain a minimal rate of fire for less than two months. That is before accounting for prior use, attrition, and logistical factors.

Procurement of the GMLRS should increase.

Anti-tank guided missiles have proven to be relatively cheap and effective weapons to counter main battle tanks (MBTs), armored personnel carriers (APCs), and infantry fighting vehicles (IFVs) on the battlefield. One of the most effective is the Javelin, which has undergone extensive use including in Ukraine. By mid-2023, 10,000 Javelins, in addition to numerous other anti-armor systems, had been provided to Ukraine by the U.S. alone. Before its invasion of Ukraine, Russia had more than 10,000 tanks (though not all usable) and tens of thousands of other IFVs and APCs; that is more vehicles than Ukrainian Javelins and provides a window into what the U.S. might need in a conventional conflict against a near-peer foe. U.S. inventory has been severely depleted from an already inadequate supply of Javelins.

Procurement of the Javelin missile should increase.

The PrSM is the Army's replacement for the Army Advanced Tactical Missile System (ATACMS) and a part of its long-range precision fires modernization priority. The PrSM improves on the ATACMS by doubling firing capacity and improving range. this is a relatively new program, and only 122 had been procured by the end of 2023.

Long-range fires help to make the Army more relevant in the Indo-Pacific. If based in the Philippines, Japan, or other partner nations, they can pose a significant threat to Chinese forces with a high degree of survivability against pre-emptive and counter-strikes due to the mobility of their launch platforms.

Procurement of the PrSM should increase.

Research and Development. Munitions upgrades are important to keep up with evolving countermeasures. Most important are programs to develop hypersonic weapons, give JASSMs a maritime strike capability, and improve the range and strikable target set of the Precision Strike Missile.²⁶

Defense Industrial Base Reforms

In response to these requests for procurement increases, critics will doubtless say that the defense industrial base is unable to handle munitions orders of this size and that they are therefore unrealistic or impossible. This criticism misses the point. Dramatically increasing the request for munitions sends a demand signal to industry that will enable it to ramp up munitions production for years to come. Purchasing munitions in block buys or using multiyear procurement authorities is even better, as it provides industry with an initial capital investment that will jumpstart increases in production capacity and encourage long-term investment in munition production.

Multiyear Procurement (MYP) Authorities. Capital investment is incredibly important to ensure U.S. munitions supply, and current production capacity is not enough to meet needs. Expanding production facilities for missiles such as JASSMs is likely to cost hundreds of millions of dollars. To be incentivized to do so, defense contractors need consistent demand signals. One way to do this is by increasing the number of multiyear contracts and the requests in those contracts. The two most consequential multiyear contracts that do *not* exist would be for TLAMs and MK-48 Torpedoes. Increasing the quantity of JASSMs, LRASMs, and SMs procured in multiyear contracts should also be a high priority.

Further, Congress should appropriate money that the DOD can deploy at its discretion to speed up production by investing in lower-tier suppliers and servicing other needs with which industry struggles or that industry is unable to meet.

6. Military Departments

The conservative defense budget shifts funding from defense-wide accounts into the Department of the Army, Department of the Navy, and Department of the Air Force. The defense budget should focus on military capability, primarily within these departments.

The Department of the Army

According to the U.S. Code:

[The Army] shall be organized, trained, and equipped primarily for prompt and sustained combat incident to operations on land. It is responsible for the preparation of land forces necessary for the effective prosecution of war except as otherwise assigned and, in accordance with integrated joint mobilization plans, for the expansion of the peacetime components of the Army to meet the needs of war.²⁷

The Army is operating in a budget-constrained environment even as it must restructure to support the U.S. military's overall shift in focus to the Indo-Pacific. This reality will necessarily require the Army to make tough funding choices. Due to the nature of the situation in the Indo-Pacific, the bulk of new military funding will go to the Navy and the Air Force. To achieve its restructuring while its budget remains mostly flat, the Army will have to make significant reallocations within its own budget.

Overview of the Conservative FY 2025 Army Defense Budget. The conservative Army defense budget:

- **Cuts and reallocates** RDT&E spending that is not expected to deliver results in the near future or is of secondary importance.
- **Focuses** RDT&E spending on missile defense and intermediate-range fires programs.
- **Quickly stands up** the two planned remaining multi-domain task forces (MDTFs) and fully equips all five MDTFs.
- **Cuts** civilian positions, creating a leaner force that is less top-heavy and more focused on warfighting.
TABLE 3

Department of the Army Budget

Figures are in billions of dollars.

Department of the Army	Official FY 2024 Request	Official FY 2025 Request	Conservative FY 2025 Request
Military Personnel	\$69.8	\$70.7	\$70.7
Operation and Maintenance	\$72.5	\$71.9	\$71.9
Procurement	\$24.5	\$25.2	\$29.8
RDT&E	\$15.8	\$14.1	\$14.1
Military Construction	\$2.1	\$3.1	\$3.1
Family Housing	\$0.7	\$0.8	\$0.9
Total Department of the Army	\$185.3	\$185.8	\$190.5

NOTE: Figures may not sum to totals due to rounding.

SOURCES: U.S. Department of Defense, "FY 2025 Budget Request Overview," March 2024, https://comptroller. defense.gov/Portals/45/Documents/defbudget/FY2025/FY2025_Budget_Request_Overview_Book.pdf (accessed March 18, 2024), and authors' calculations.

SR281 🖀 heritage.org

- **Moves** soldiers or even units into the National Guard or Army Reserve as the Army downsizes over the coming years. This will cut costs while retaining the ability to activate these forces if the need ever arises.
- **Increases** Family Housing spending by \$100 million to improve the quality of life for servicemembers and their families.

Of the three departments, the conservative defense budget's Army budget is the most similar to the President's budget request. The official budget keeps Army spending relatively flat and correctly shifts money out of RDT&E into procurement. The rebalancing in funding toward the Navy and Air Force is necessary given the immediacy of the challenge in the Indo-Pacific and fiscal constraints.

The primary difference between the conservative defense budget and the official request is that the conservative defense budget proposes an additional \$4.6 billion in procurement spending for the Army. This additional funding is intended primarily for the purchase of munitions, including PrSM, GMLRS, and Javelin missiles.

The Army has identified and launched new initiatives that will allow it to act as a key enabler of U.S. efforts to deter China in the Indo-Pacific. The Army has launched several new modernization initiatives since 2021, including an intermediate-range capability designed to strike ships from land that will be critical to deterrence in the Indo-Pacific.

The Indo-Pacific is primarily a maritime theater in which strategically important countries are separated by hundreds or thousands of miles of open ocean. In a conflict with China, the U.S. Navy and Air Force would play the leading roles. The critical enabling role that the Army would play would be to provide logistics and air defense for forward airfields and to provide shore-based anti-access capabilities. Potential contingencies in the Indo-Pacific would require lightweight and mediumweight Army forces capable of rapid deployment that are able to employ robust air and missile defense systems, ground-launched anti-ship missiles, and long-range fires.²⁸

Secretary of the Army Christine Wormuth has identified five core tasks for the Army in the Indo-Pacific if war were to break out. The Army should:

- 1. **Serve** as the "linchpin" service by establishing and protecting staging areas and joint operating bases for air and naval forces, including providing air and missile defense.
- 2. **Provide** logistics for the joint force, especially in terms of secure communications.
- 3. Provide command-and-control capacity.
- 4. **Use** ground-based, long-range fires to interdict enemy missiles, suppress enemy air defense, and provide counter fires against mobile enemy targets.
- 5. Provide counterattack capability with ground combat forces.²⁹

In the Indo-Pacific, the U.S. Army must operate in a primarily naval theater of operations against an adversary that has the home field advantage. China is hundreds of miles or less away from the potential conflict zones—as opposed to the United States' main Pacific nodes of San Diego and Hawaii, which are thousands of miles away from the potential conflict zones—with protected interior supply lines and numerical superiority in terms of equipment and munitions in theater. The Army will have to reposition assets from other theaters to the Indo-Pacific to compensate for this structural challenge.³⁰ The Army's present commitment of troops and resources in the Pacific does not match the Indo-Pacific's status as the primary region of concern in the National Defense Strategy. The Army continues to devote as much or more of its troops and resources to other theaters, especially EUCOM and U.S. Central Command (CENTCOM), and is struggling with fully manning its units as a result of the recruiting crisis. If the Army wants to be decisive in the joint effort to deter China in the Indo-Pacific, it will need to shift personnel and resources away from other theaters to the region just as it has shifted RDT&E and Procurement dollars to programs that are more relevant to the Indo-Pacific.³¹

New Weapons in the Army's Arsenal. In 2021, the Army committed to fast-tracking and delivering multiple new fires systems by 2023. The Army has done a respectable job of meeting this target, surprising many doubters who were familiar with the Army's failed modernization programs in the early 2000s.

Most of these new weapons and systems have been tested successfully, and U.S. Army Pacific Commander General Charles Flynn has stated that the Army is planning to deploy some of these assets to the Indo-Pacific in 2024. The Army is further developing these new weapons and systems to improve its capability to deliver long-range precision fires that would be especially relevant to a conflict in the region, including a targeting package that would enable the new surface-to-surface missile to target ships³²

These new weapons and systems are:

- **The Precision Strike Missile (PrSM).** The PrSM is the next-generation surface-to-surface missile being developed by the Army to replace the Army Tactical Missile System (ATACMS). Lockheed Martin, the missile's developer, says the missiles have a range of up to 310 miles.³³ Like the ATACMS missile, the PrSM will be launched from the mobile HIMARS launch system, although the launcher will now be capable of carrying two PrSM missiles, whereas previously it could carry only one ATACMS missile.³⁴
- **The Strategic Mid-Range Fires System.** This system, also called the "Typhon" missile system, has been developed to fire anti-ship missiles, air defense missiles, and land-to-land mid-range missiles. The system is mobile and therefore difficult for enemy forces to target, and its range varies by missile type.

- The Long-Range Hypersonic Weapon (LRHW). The LRHW is set to be the U.S. military's first long-range hypersonic missile, with a range of at least 1,700 miles. The Chinese have already deployed a significant number of hypersonic missiles and are significantly ahead of the United States. Hypersonic missiles, traveling at least five times the speed of sound, are a huge challenge for traditional air defense measures that the United States has yet to address adequately. If the Army successfully fields an LHRW battery in the near future, it will go a long way toward addressing this capability gap.
- The Multi-Domain Task Force (MDTF). The Army has introduced a new type of unit called the MDTF to accommodate these and other precision fires systems. The Army describes the MDTF as "theater-level maneuver elements designed to synchronize precision effects and precision fires in all domains against adversary anti-access/ area denial (A2/AD) networks in all domains, enabling joint forces to execute their operational plan (OPLAN)-directed roles." The 1st MDTF was established in 2017 at Joint Base Lewis–McChord in Washington State with the 2nd MDTF following in 2021 in Germany and the 3rd MDTF in 2022 in Hawaii. These units field rockets, missiles, military intelligence, and other capabilities that allow Army forces to operate seamlessly with joint partners and conduct multi-domain operations. Two more MDTFs are planned, and the Army should place these units in INDOPACOM as well.³⁵

The Department of the Navy

The United States, as a maritime powerhouse, has long overlooked the challenges to its naval supremacy. Rectifying this situation demands significant investments and a renewed commitment to enhancing immediate deterrence against the United States' primary adversary: China. Considering the military landscape, naval capabilities will play a paramount role in deterring potential threats. In recent years, the Department of the Navy has been resourcing research and development at rates exceeding industry norms.³⁶ However, these investments focus on capabilities that may not materialize for decades, rendering them ineffective for immediate deterrence needs.

The conservative defense budget emphasizes procurement in warships, aircraft, and munitions over research and development of any capability that will not reach initial operational capability before 2027. Additionally,

TABLE 4

Department of the Navy Budget

Figures are in billions of dollars.

Department of the Army	Official FY 2024 Request	Official FY 2025 Request	Conservative FY 2025 Request
Military Personnel	\$60.6	\$61.9	\$64.1
Operation and Maintenance	\$84.6	\$87.6	\$91.1
Procurement	\$76.9	\$77.1	\$93.9
RDT&E	\$26.9	\$25.7	\$21.8
Military Construction	\$6.2	\$4.7	\$8.3
Family Housing	\$0.6	\$0.6	\$0.7
Total Department of the Navy	\$255.8	\$257.6	\$279.9

NOTE: Figures may not sum to totals due to rounding.

SOURCES: U.S. Department of Defense, "FY 2025 Budget Request Overview," March 2024, https://comptroller. defense.gov/Portals/45/Documents/defbudget/FY2025/FY2025_Budget_Request_Overview_Book.pdf (accessed March 18, 2024), and authors' calculations.

SR281 Theritage.org

the conservative defense budget emphasizes renewed efforts to address recruitment shortages, modernize the fleet, and expand public shipyards.

Overview of the Conservative FY 2025 Navy Defense Budget. The conservative FY 2025 Navy defense budget:

- **Contains** \$48.1 billion for sea-power investments with new construction of nine battle force fleet ships including one *Columbia*-class submarine and two *Virginia*-class submarines, two *Arleigh Burke*class destroyers, and two *Constellation*-class guided-missile frigates. The Navy will not retire any ships ahead of their expected service lives (ESLs).
- **Is partially funded** through a shift from RDT&E funding into procurement.
- **Contains** an increase in O&M, \$2.44 billion of which is to provide funding for Red Sea operations.

- **Requests** no new civilian personnel.
- **Increases** Family Housing spending by \$100 million to improve the quality of life for servicemembers and their families.

Strategic Guidance and Themes. The Navy's primary focus must be on deterring China with a strategic emphasis on operations and military infrastructure in the Western Pacific. However, concerns are mounting about the nation's capacity to uphold nuclear deterrence against an increasing array of threats, including China, Russia, North Korea, and potentially Iran, in the near future. The concern about North Korea's nuclear program in particular will require the U.S. Navy to conduct relevant exercises to reassure South Korea and Japan. Furthermore, the Navy will need to deploy tactical nuclear response options (such as the SLCM-N) by 2027 and prioritize resources to ensure that the *Columbia*-class ballistic missile submarines enter service before the *Ohio*-class submarines begin to be retired from service.

Second in order of priorities is bolstering deterrence of Russia shoulder-to-shoulder with NATO allies and supporting the U.S. Coast Guard in defending U.S. and allied maritime rights and borders. This entails a specific focus on protecting America's Pacific maritime economic exclusion zones.

Security and Operational Environment. China's military activities in the Western Pacific have become increasingly aggressive and persistent, especially in the waters and airspace around Taiwan. This is expected to continue while Chinese Coast Guard and paramilitary maritime militia forces continue to harass treaty allies, including the Philippines and Japan. The potential for a crisis that will engage U.S. naval forces is high. The Navy must ensure a persistent presence and readiness in these Western Pacific waters to mitigate the likelihood of a confrontation. This includes increased collaborative naval patrols and onshore activities with Pacific Island partner nations to prevent China form gaining a military foothold in the Central Pacific, including through predatory lending practices, bribery, and coercion.³⁷

In this decisive theater, North Korean and Russian naval activities merit continued naval presence in the Sea of Japan and the Northern Pacific. The mission of the U.S. Navy in the region will continue to be the monitoring of strategic nuclear deterrent patrols conducted by Russia's submariner fleet as well as North Korea's improving at-sea nuclear capability, including nuclear-capable submarine ballistic missile launches from a *Golf*-class submarine.

On the global front, the Navy must maintain vigilance to deter further Russian aggression alongside NATO allies. This includes ensuring adequate MAP 1

Key U.S. Naval Installations



- Joint Base Pearl Harbor-Hickham, HI
 U.S. Pacific Fleet headquarters
- 2 Naval Base Kitsap
- 3 Naval Station Everett, WA
- Naval Base San Diego and Naval Base Coronado, CA U.S. Third Fleet headquarters
- 5 Naval Station Mayport, FL U.S. Fourth Fleet headquarters
- 6 Naval Submarine Base King's Bay, GA
- Naval Base Norfolk and Joint Expeditionary Base Little Creek, VA U.S. Fleet Forces Command and U.S. Second Fleet headquarters
- 8 Naval Submarine Base New London, CT
- Expeditionary Maritime Operations Center (Keflavik, Iceland)
- 10 Naval Station Rota (Spain)

NOTE: Fleet boundaries are approximate. **SOURCE:** Heritage Foundation research.

- 1 Naval Support Activity Naples (Italy) U.S. Sixth Fleet headquarters
- 12 Naval Support Activity (Bahrain) U.S. Fifth Fleet headquarters
- **13** Lemonnier, Djibouti—Camp Lemonnier
- Diego Garcia—Navy Support Facility Diego Garcia
- 15 Singapore—Commander Logistics Group Western Pacific
- **16** Fleet Activities Chinhae (South Korea)
- U.S. Fleet Activities Yokosuka (Japan) U.S. Seventh Fleet headquarters
- 18 U.S. Fleet Activities Sasebo (Japan)
- Okinawa, Japan—Naval Base White Beach
- 20 Naval Base Guam—Navy Expeditionary Force Command Pacific headquarters
- 2 Darwin, Australia—Marine Rotational Force Darwin

SR281 🖀 heritage.org

strike capabilities in the Eastern Mediterranean to prevent the escalation of violence into the Black Sea and providing the President with options to deter Iran and its proxies from escalating the ongoing war against Israel, which started with the attacks by Hamas on October 7, 2023.

Across the Pacific, Chinese fishing fleets have been poaching the waters of other countries, causing significant loss to livelihoods. American citizens in U.S. territories like Guam, the Mariana Islands, and American Samoa, given their proximity, could potentially be affected by this activity. Therefore, the U.S., working primarily through the U.S. Coast Guard, must increase its efforts to bolster monitoring and poaching prevention in U.S. and allied waters while deterring further Chinese encroachment in the Central Pacific. Failure to do so will significantly exacerbate the security challenges facing the U.S. in these strategically vital waters.³⁸

Finally, Iran's supply of weapons and support to proxies across the Middle East creates significant threats for the U.S. and its allies. Since October 7, 2023, Israel has been at war against Hamas and has suffered repeated attacks from the Houthis in Yemen and Hezbollah across Israel's northern border. The attacks on shipping routes by the Houthis and persistent threats by Iran to strategic waterways, including the Straits of Hormuz and Bab-el-Mandeb, are significant challenges to global shipping lanes and economic stability that require U.S. and allied naval presence. Addressing the threat to shipping in the Middle East will require a minimum naval capacity to detect and disrupt attempts at closing these waterways in concert with allies and partners. Allies and partners that are adversely affected by the attacks in the region must increase capabilities and commit resources to prevent further attacks on international shipping.

Overview of the Navy's Budget. To address the threats that it faces, the Navy should prioritize O&M to improve readiness today. Second, more resources should be allocated to procurement of munitions—currently in short supply—that are relevant to a conflict in the Indo-Pacific. Additionally, production capacity for naval warships and new aircraft should increase to ensure that all carrier strike groups can be fully equipped. As with the other services, the Navy should partially fund additional procurement through a shift from RDT&E funding.

The O&M budget establishes a benchmark with an additional \$2.44 billion allocated for operations in the Red Sea. Notably, there is a significant increase in funding for military construction aimed at expediting the modernization of public shipyards under the Shipyard Infrastructure Optimization Program (SIOP), initiating the establishment of a fifth public shipyard, and providing support for activities related to the Pacific Deterrence Initiative posture. **The U.S. Marine Corps.** U.S. naval forces ensure that the U.S. can use the oceans and seas for its benefit by projecting military power in and through maritime spaces, denying the same opportunities and ability to an enemy, and assisting the larger U.S. joint force in any effort to project power ashore to accomplish war objectives. The more effectively the naval services can do this, the more they contribute to deterrence, the aim of which is to convince a potential enemy that doing things that threaten or harm U.S. interests will be more costly than the benefit they are trying to gain.

In fact, this is the Corps' mission, defined by law: "The Marine Corps shall be organized, trained, and equipped to provide fleet marine forces of combined arms, together with supporting air components, for service with the fleet in the seizure or defense of advanced naval bases and for the conduct of such land operations as may be essential to the prosecution of a naval campaign."³⁹ Though the service has a long history of success in sustained land combat, its unique mission is to contribute "to the prosecution of a naval campaign." In other words, it is a key contributor to the projection of U.S. naval power. Accordingly, its operating forces and their training, equipage, and employment concepts must account for operations in the maritime domain.

This restructuring to return the Marine Corps to projecting power in and around maritime spaces is the primary focus—encapsulated, tracked, and driven by the Corps' Force Design⁴⁰—that has shaped Marine Corps programs and efforts since 2019 and will continue through 2025 and several years beyond. To this end, the Corps' budget requests have reflected investments in modernizing the force; in funding key experiment, exercise, and training initiatives; and in improving "quality of life" conditions for the force.

Substantial progress has been made in modernization and readiness, but the Corps is too small. The Marine Corps' active component has averaged 192,000 Marines for the past 70 years,⁴¹ enabling it to field 27 infantry battalions and associated combat, combat support, aviation, and logistics capabilities to regional combatant commanders. At its present size of 172,300 Marines, it can fully staff only 21 battalions and associated capabilities. Getting back to its historical average would improve its ability to field a greater number of smaller, more capable units as envisioned by the Force Design. Of course, force expansion is predicated on associated increases in funding, improvements in the recruiting environment, and the Navy's ability to provide more amphibious shipping.

In FY 2024, the service's total budget (not counting aviation procurement, which is handled by the U.S. Navy) was \$53.2 billion. Like its sister services, the Corps has struggled to acquire what it needs and to train as it should because defense budgets have not kept pace with inflation or the increased expense of fielding combat-credible forces as new technologies reshape the operational environment.

To account for both of these factors, as well as recovering from years of underfunding, the Corps' budget for FY 2025 should be \$56.4 billion, an increase of 6 percent: 3 percent to offset inflation and another 3 percent to see real growth that is necessary to regain capabilities and capacity. The \$3.2 billion increase should be distributed as follows:

- Personnel: \$0.6 billion.
- Ground procurement and training: \$0.6 billion.
- Aviation O&M: \$0.6 billion.
- Infrastructure repair and modernization: \$1.0 billion.
- Ammunition: \$0.5 billion.

The Marines are on track both in acquiring key platforms that include the joint light tactical vehicle (JLTV); the amphibious combat vehicle (ACV); and the CH-53K, F-35 B, and F-35 C systems and in introducing a range of new weapons, unmanned systems, sensors, radars, and communications equipment. The Corps has also committed to a multiyear plan to repair and modernize its supporting infrastructure that includes barracks, on-base housing, maintenance facilities, and training ranges.⁴²

The recommended increases for FY 2025 would not only sustain the Marine Corps' repair and modernization, but also enable it to replenish ammunition stocks more quickly; accelerate the introduction of a host of unmanned capabilities (needed for reconnaissance, targeting, communications, and logistics); and dramatically improve the ability of ground forces to sharpen and expand their competencies in modern land warfare.⁴³

A major element essential to Marine Corps success in maritime operations is the fleet of amphibious warships acquired, manned, operated, and maintained by the Navy. The Corps has been consistent in stating a requirement for a minimum of 31 traditional, large amphibious warships and is now on record with a new requirement for a medium landing ship (LSM) that would be better suited to the type of operations the Corps envisions in the Indo-Pacific with an eye toward to the type of threat posed by China (though this capability would not be limited to China in its usefulness). The Corps has registered with the Navy a requirement for 35 LSMs, beginning with 18 and building to the larger number. Because the LSM was delayed from FY 2022 to FY 2025, this capability must be funded in FY 2025.⁴⁴

The Corps is in the process of building Marine Corps Base (MCB) Camp Blaz on Guam, to which 5,000 Marines will be moved from Okinawa, Japan,⁴⁵ and is well on its way to fielding a new type of unit, the Marine Littoral Regiment,⁴⁶ optimized to serve as a stand-in force⁴⁷ and able to conduct operations within an enemy's weapons engagement zone (the area an enemy can target with its offensive and defense weapons). The conservative budget funding recommended for FY 2025 would support both of these important initiatives.

The Department of the Air Force

The primary role of the U.S. Air Force is established by U.S. law and DOD directive:

[The Air Force] shall be organized, trained, and equipped primarily for prompt and sustained offensive and defensive air operations. It is responsible for the preparation of the air forces necessary for the effective prosecution of war except as otherwise assigned and, in accordance with integrated joint mobilization plans, for the expansion of the peacetime components of the Air Force to meet the needs of war.⁴⁸

To that end, the Air Force executes five core missions in support of the U.S. National Security Strategy: (1) air and space superiority;⁴⁹ (2) ISR;⁵⁰ (3) rapid global mobility;⁵¹ (4) global strike;⁵² and (5) command and control.⁵³ The ability to deter enemies in times of peace and defeat them should deterrence fail relies on high levels of capacity, capability, and readiness throughout that mission set.⁵⁴

Overview of the Conservative FY 2025 Air Force Defense Budget. The conservative FY 2025 Air Force budget:

- **Contains** a shift in Air Force and defense-wide RDT&E to Air Force Procurement.
- **Increases** procurement by \$15.2 billion, which includes funding for the purchase of additional F-35s and for increased munitions purchases.

TABLE 5

Department of the Air Force Budget

Figures are in billions of dollars.

Department of the Army	Official FY 2024 Request	Official FY 2025 Request	Conservative FY 2025 Request
Military Personnel	\$48.5	\$49.3	\$49.8
Operation and Maintenance	\$79.5	\$81.8	\$83.5
Procurement	\$61.7	\$59.5	\$74.7
RDT&E	\$65.8	\$67.8	\$59.2
Military Construction	\$3.2	\$3.6	\$5.3
Family Housing	\$0.6	\$0.6	\$0.7
Total Department of the Air Force	\$259.2	\$262.6	\$273.2

NOTE: Figures may not sum to totals due to rounding.

SOURCES: U.S. Department of Defense, "FY 2025 Budget Request Overview," March 2024, https://comptroller. defense.gov/Portals/45/Documents/defbudget/FY2025/FY2025_Budget_Request_Overview_Book.pdf (accessed March 18, 2024), and authors' calculations.

SR281 🖀 heritage.org

- **Increases** operations and maintenance funding to increase pilot flying hours, which are currently far too low to maintain readiness.
- **Increases** Family Housing spending by \$100 million to improve the quality of life for servicemembers and their families.

The Air Force has decades of decreasing budgets, and the withering effects of the global war on terrorism and the aging of the Air Force's fleet of aircraft have reduced its capacity and readiness: In 2016, the service hit historic lows in both areas. In 2017, the Department of the Air Force (DAF) began to enjoy real budget growth that was not associated with a contingency for the first time in more than 26 years. From FY 2017 to FY 2024, the DAF's inflation-corrected budget has grown by 37 percent,⁵⁵ giving the service the opportunity to increase procurement to acquire the number of weapons systems required to compete with a rising China.⁵⁶ Yet the service's capacity and readiness levels have continued their downward trajectories.

Capacity. "The Air Force We Need" (TAFWN),⁵⁷ an unclassified study released in 2018, found that the service was 25 percent too small to handle

CHART 2

FIGHTERS BOMBERS 4,468 3,971 2,073 1.990 **TANKERS** STRATEGIC AIRLIFTERS

Changes to Air Force Capacity

SOURCES:

- 1987 data: U.S. Department of Defense, "The United States Air Force Summary: FY 1988/1989 (Amended)," May 15, 1988, pp. D–4 and D–7, https://media.defense.gov/2011/Apr/12/2001330036/-1/-1/0/AFD-110412-036.pdf (accessed January 15, 2020).
- **1991 data:** U.S. Department of Defense, "United States Air Force Statistical Digest: Fiscal Year 1992," March 7, 1994, pp. E–103 and E–108, https://media.defense.gov/2011/Apr/19/2001330026/-1/-1/0/AFD-110419-005.pdf (accessed January 15, 2020).
- 2019 data: U.S. Air Force, "United States Air Force: Fiscal Year 2020 Budget Overview," March 2019, p. 38, https://www.saffm.hq.af.mil/Portals/84/documents/FY20/FY2020%20Air%20Force%20Budget%20
 Overview%20Book%20Final%20v3.pdf?ver=2019-03-13-082653-843 (accessed January 13, 2020), and 2019 Air Force staff response to author query.

SR281 🖀 heritage.org

its mission set, requiring an additional airlift squadron and seven additional fighter, five additional bomber, and 14 additional tanker squadrons,⁵⁸ equating to 182 fighter, 50 bomber, 210 air refueling, and 15 airlift platforms to execute the National Defense Strategy.⁵⁹ To exacerbate the capacity shortfall, in 2022, the Air Force announced a plan to cut 1,468 aircraft from its fleet over the Future Years Defense Program (FYDP) with no compensating procurement plan.⁶⁰

CHART 3

Can F-35 Simulation Replace Time in the Jet?

Q: "Do you believe flight time in the simulator is a viable replacement for time in the jet?"



SOURCE: John Venable, "The F-35A Fighter Is the Most Dominant and Lethal Multi-Role Weapons System in the World: Now Is the Time to Ramp Up Production," Heritage Foundation *Backgrounder* No. 3406, May 14, 2019, p. 13, https://www.heritage.org/defense/report/the-f-35a-fighter-the-most-dominant-and-lethal-multi-role-weapons-system-the-world.

SR281 🖀 heritage.org

The DAF has applied the majority of the funding increase it received over the past eight years to RDT&E. Before 2017, the Air Force's budget for RDT&E had never exceeded its budget for Procurement, but it has done so every year since then, and in the official FY 2025 request, funding for RDT&E (\$67.8 billion) exceeds funding for Procurement by \$8 billion.⁶¹ While the numbers for Air Force RDT&E and procurement budgets need to be rebalanced, the entire DAF budget will need to be adjusted so that both aircraft procurement and combatant air force (CAF) readiness levels can rapidly be prioritized and increased.⁶²

The inventory for precision-guided munitions (PGM) was severely stressed by nearly 18 years of sustained combat operations in Iraq, Afghanistan, Syria, and elsewhere and by budget actions that limited the service's ability to procure replacements and increase stockpiles. From 2017 through 2021, funding for munitions was significant, and the service has reduced funding for munitions to a maintenance level for training. However, even though the munitions stockpile may have returned to a level that is high enough to support a surge in expenditures associated with a conflict similar to the global war on terrorism—loosely encompassing operations in Afghanistan and Iraq—it would not support a peer-level fight that lasted more than a few weeks. Funding for munitions must increase.

Readiness. The Air Force is funding fewer flying hours than it has at any other time in its history, and this has reduced readiness levels of the CAF to all-time lows. O&M funding, targeting flying hours and spare parts (Weapon Systems Sustainment), must increase incrementally but significantly over the next five years.⁶³

The Space Force. The Space Force's mission is to organize, train, and equip forces "to protect U.S. and allied interests in space and to provide space capabilities to the joint force." Its responsibilities include "developing Guardians, acquiring military space systems, maturing the military doctrine for space power, and organizing space forces to present to our Combatant Commands."⁶⁴

The Space Force was born on December 20, 2019, and over the course of its four years of existence, it has witnessed significant growth in personnel, fielded systems, and annual budget. It now has an authorized end strength of 9,400 military and 4,909 civilian personnel. In 2018, the Air Force operated 77 satellites,⁶⁵ a constellation that has almost doubled in size through service equipment transfers and additional fielding to number some 144 satellites that reside within the Space Force. Its budget has all but doubled from \$15.4 billion in FY 2021 to \$30 billion in FY 2024.

The Space Force's budget for Procurement funded some of those satellites, but the vast majority came through the service's \$19.6 billion RDT&E budget. Those developmental constellations will mature over the next two years, allowing the DAF to shift some of its RDT&E funding to begin rebuilding the capacity and readiness of the Space Force's sister service, the Air Force. To that end, the DAF should begin that process in FY 2025 by shifting \$2.0 billion of the Space Force's RDT&E budget to the Air Force's Procurement and O&M accounts.

Conclusion

Defense spending should flow from strategy and should be focused on military capacity and lethality. Non-defense spending, politicized initiatives within the DOD, and unfocused spending all distract from the military's core mission of defending the American people. Given the dramatic expansion of Chinese military capabilities in recent years, U.S. defense spending must focus on capabilities that are relevant to deterring China in the Indo-Pacific.

The DOD has neglected the procurement of new ships, planes, and munitions for decades. The recommendations in this *Special Report* go a long way toward reversing these negative trends and ensuring that the U.S. military is capable and ready to carry out its mission. APPENDIX TABLE 1

Defense Total

Defense Budget, by Military Department and Appropriation Title

Figures are in billions of dollars.

Department of the Army	Official FY 2024 Request	Official FY 2025 Request	Conservative FY 2025 Request
Military Personnel	\$69.8	\$70.7	\$70.7
Operation and Maintenance	\$72.5	\$71.9	\$71.9
Procurement	\$24.5	\$25.2	\$29.8
RDT&E	\$15.8	\$14.1	\$14.1
Military Construction	\$2.1	\$3.1	\$3.1
Family Housing	\$0.7	\$0.8	\$0.9
Total Department of the Army	\$185.3	\$185.8	\$190.5

Department of the Navy	Official FY 2024 Request	Official FY 2025 Request	Conservative FY 2025 Request
Military Personnel	\$60.6	\$61.9	\$64.1
Operation and Maintenance	\$84.6	\$87.6	\$91.1
Procurement	\$76.9	\$77.1	\$93.9
RDT&E	\$26.9	\$25.7	\$21.8
Military Construction	\$6.2	\$4.7	\$8.3
Family Housing	\$0.6	\$0.6	\$0.7
Total Department of the Navy	\$255.8	\$257.6	\$279.9

Department of the Air Force	Official FY 2024 Request	Official FY 2025 Request	Conservative FY 2025 Request
Military Personnel	\$48.5	\$49.3	\$49.8
Operation and Maintenance	\$79.5	\$81.8	\$83.5
Procurement	\$61.7	\$59.5	\$74.7
RDT&E	\$65.8	\$67.8	\$59.2
Military Construction	\$3.2	\$3.6	\$5.3
Family Housing	\$0.6	\$0.6	\$0.7
Total Department of the Air Force	\$259.2	\$262.6	\$273.2

Defense-Wide	Official FY 2024 Request	Official FY 2025 Request	Conservative FY 2025 Request
Military Personnel	_	_	_
Operation and Maintenance	\$93.2	\$96.6	\$84.0
Procurement	\$7.0	\$5.8	\$6.1
RDT&E	\$36.5	\$35.6	\$28.7
Military Construction	\$3.3	\$4.2	\$4.2
Family Housing	\$0.6	\$0.6	\$0.7
Total Defense-Wide	\$141.7	\$143.7	\$123.7
	Official FY 2024 Request	Official FY 2025 Request	Conservative FY 2025 Request

NOTES: Figures may not sum to totals due to rounding. Figures do not include supplemental requests.

\$842.0

SOURCES: U.S. Department of Defense, "FY 2025 Budget Request Overview," March 2024, https://comptroller.defense.gov/Portals/45/Documents/defbud-get/FY2025/FY2025_Budget_Request_Overview_Book.pdf (accessed March 18, 2024), and authors' calculations.

\$849.8

\$867.3

Endnotes

- U.S. Department of Defense, Office of the Under Secretary of Defense (Comptroller)/Chief Financial Officer, United States Department of Defense Fiscal Year 2025 Budget Request: Defense Budget Overview, March 2024, https://comptroller.defense.gov/Portals/45/Documents/defbudget/FY2025 /FY2025_Budget_Request_Overview_Book.pdf (accessed March 31, 2024).
- 2. Wilson Beaver, Robert Peters, John Venable, and James Di Pane, "Prioritizing Procurement over Research and Development," Heritage Foundation *Backgrounder* No. 3804, January 10, 2024, https://www.heritage.org/defense/report/prioritizing-procurement-over-research-and-development.
- 3. Ibid.
- 4. Thomas Spoehr and Wilson Beaver, "Defense Dollars Saved Through Reforms Can Boost the Military's Lethality and Capacity," Heritage Foundation *Backgrounder* No. 3770, May 26, 2023, https://www.heritage.org/defense/report/prioritizing-procurement-over-research-and-development.
- Robert Greenway, "Strength in Unity: A Sustainable US-Led Regional Security Construct in the Middle East," Hudson Institute, August 18, 2023, https://www.hudson.org/foreign-policy/strength-unity-sustainable-us-led-regional-security-construct-middle-east-robert-greenway (accessed March 31, 2024).
- 6. Robert Peters and Ryan Tully, "The World Is Becoming Ever More Dangerous: The President Must Revitalize the U.S. Strategic Arsenal," Heritage Foundation *Issue Brief* No. 5343, March 1, 2024, https://www.heritage.org/defense/report/the-world-becoming-ever-more-dangerous-the-president -must-revitalize-the-us.
- 7. Henry Obering and Robert Peters, "Time for a New Missile Defense Review and a Space-Based Missile Defense Overlayer," Heritage Foundation *Issue Brief* No. 5342, March 11, 2024, https://www.heritage.org/defense/report/time-new-missile-defense-review-and-space-based-missile-defense-overlayer.
- 8. Peters and Tully, "The World Is Becoming Ever More Dangerous."
- 9. Obering and Peters, "Time for a New Missile Defense Review and a Space-Based Missile Defense Overlayer."
- 10. Alexander Velez-Green, "Managing Trade-offs Between Military Aid for Taiwan and Ukraine," Heritage Foundation *Issue Brief* No. 5328, August 31, 2023, https://www.heritage.org/defense/report/managing-trade-offs-between-military-aid-taiwan-and-ukraine.
- 11. See, for instance, RAND's recommendations related to "robust sensing and targeting grids in contested battlespaces" in David A. Ochmanek, Anna Dowd, Stephen J. Flanagan, Andrew R. Hoehn, Jeffrey W. Hornung, Michael J. Lostumbo, and Michael J. Mazarr, *Inflection Point: How to Reverse the Erosion of U.S. and Allied Military Power and Influence*, RAND Corporation, 2023, pp. 28 et seq., https://www.rand.org/pubs/research_reports /RRA2555-1.html (accessed March 31, 2024).
- 12. Robert Peters, "America's Current Nuclear Arsenal Was Built for a More Benign World," Heritage Foundation *Issue Brief* No. 5330, September 7, 2023, https://www.heritage.org/sites/default/files/2023-09/IB5330.pdf.
- 13. News release, "Army Delivers Funding for Family Housing at Fort Leonard Wood Following Commitment to Senator Hawley," Office of U.S. Senator Josh Hawley, December 20, 2023, https://www.hawley.senate.gov/army-delivers-funding-family-housing-fort-leonard-wood-following-commitment -senator-hawley (accessed March 31, 2024).
- 14. Elizabeth A. Field, Director, Defense Capabilities and Management, U.S. Government Accountability Office, "Military Housing: Strengthened Oversight Needed to Make and Sustain Improvements to Living Conditions," Testimony Before the Quality of Life Panel, Committee on Armed Services, U.S. House of Representatives, GAO-23-107038, September 23, 2023, https://www.gao.gov/assets/870/861660.pdf (accessed March 31, 2024).
- 15. Thomas W. Spoehr, "U.S. Army," in 2024 Index of U.S. Military Strength, ed. Dakota L. Wood (Washington: The Heritage Foundation, 2024), https:// www.heritage.org/military-strength/assessment-us-military-power/us-army.
- 16. Thomas W. Spoehr, "Improving America's Long-Term Military Recruiting Outlook," Heritage Foundation *Backgrounder* No. 3657, October 5, 2021, https://www.heritage.org/defense/report/improving-americas-long-term-military-recruiting-outlook.
- 17. U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, "Education and Training: Post-9/11 GI Bill (Chapter 33)," last updated March 29, 2024, https://www.va.gov /education/about-gi-bill-benefits/post-9-11/ (accessed March 31, 2024).
- 18. Thomas Spoehr and Wilson Beaver, "Defense Dollars Saved Through Reforms Can Boost the Military's Lethality and Capacity," Heritage Foundation *Backgrounder* No. 3770, May 26, 2023, https://www.heritage.org/defense/report/defense-dollars-saved-through-reforms-can-boost-the-militarys -lethality-and-capacity.
- 19. Ibid.
- 20. U.S. Department of Defense, Office of the Under Secretary of Defense (Comptroller)/Chief Financial Officer, *United States Department of Defense Fiscal Year 2025 Budget Request: Defense Budget Overview*.
- 21. Thomas Spoehr, "The Rise of Wokeness in the Military," Heritage Foundation *Commentary*, September 30, 2022, https://www.heritage.org/defense /commentary/the-rise-wokeness-the-military.
- 22. Wilson Beaver and Jim Fein, "America Must Remedy Its Dangerous Lack of Munitions Planning," Heritage Foundation *Issue Brief* No. 5341, February 26, 2024, https://www.heritage.org/defense/report/america-must-remedy-its-dangerous-lack-munitions-planning.

- 23. U.S. Department of Defense, Office of the Undersecretary of Defense (Comptroller)/Chief Financial Officer, United States Department of Defense Fiscal Year 2023 Budget Request: Program Acquisition Cost by Weapon System, April 2022, https://comptroller.defense.gov/Portals/45/Documents /defbudget/FY2023/FY2023_Weapons.pdf (accessed March 31, 2024), and U.S. Department of Defense, Office of the Undersecretary of Defense (Comptroller)/Chief Financial Officer, United States Department of Defense Fiscal Year 2022 Budget Request: Program Acquisition Cost by Weapon System, May 2021, https://comptroller.defense.gov/Portals/45/Documents/defbudget/FY2022/FY2022_Weapons.pdf (accessed March 31, 2024).
- 24. Beaver and Fein, "America Must Remedy Its Dangerous Lack of Munitions Planning."
- Seth G. Jones, "Empty Bins in a Wartime Environment: The Challenge to the U.S. Defense Industrial Base," Center for Strategic and International Studies International Security Program, January 2023, https://csis-website-prod.s3.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/2023-01/230119_Jones_Empty_Bins .pdf?VersionId=mW30Ongwul8V2nR2EHKBYxkpi0zMiS88 (accessed March 31, 2024).
- 26. U.S. Department of Defense, Office of the Undersecretary of Defense (Comptroller)/Chief Financial Officer, *United States Department of Defense Fiscal Year 2023 Budget Request: Program Acquisition Cost by Weapon System*.
- 27. 10 U.S. Code § 7062(b), https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/10/7062 (accessed March 31, 2024).
- 28. Thomas W. Spoehr, "Rebuilding America's Military Project: The United States Army," Heritage Foundation *Special Report* No. 215, August 22, 2019, https://www.heritage.org/defense/report/rebuilding-americas-military-project-the-united-states-army.
- 29. Wilson Beaver, "The Army's Role in the Indo–Pacific," Heritage Foundation *Issue Brief* No. 5346, March 12, 2024, https://www.heritage.org/defense /report/the-armys-role-the-indo-pacific.

30. Ibid.

- 31. Beaver, Peters, Venable, and Di Pane, "Prioritizing Procurement over Research and Development."
- 32. Beaver, "The Army's Role in the Indo-Pacific."
- 33. Lockheed Martin, "Precision Strike Missile (PrSM)," https://www.lockheedmartin.com/en-us/products/precision-strike-missile.html (accessed March 31, 2024).
- 34. Beaver, "The Army's Role in the Indo-Pacific."
- 35. Spoehr, "U.S. Army," in 2024 Index of U.S. Military Strength.
- 36. Beaver, Peters, Venable, and Di Pane, "Prioritizing Procurement over Research and Development."
- 37. Brent D. Sadler, "U.S. Navy," in 2024 Index of U.S. Military Strength, https://www.heritage.org/military-strength/assessment-us-military-power/us -navy.
- 38. Ibid.
- 39. 10 U.S. Code § 8063(a), https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/10/8063 (accessed March 31, 2024).
- 40. U.S. Marine Corps, "Force Design," https://www.marines.mil/Force-Design/ (accessed March 31, 2024). Originally called Force Design 2030, announced in 2019, the plan is now known simply as Force Design, reflecting the service's philosophy of continual adaptation to meet evolving challenges in threat, operational, and technological settings. See Irene Loewenson, "Marine Leaders Drop '2030' from Name of Ambitious Overhaul Plan," *Marine Corps Times*, February 1, 2024, https://www.marinecorpstimes.com/news/your-marine-corps/2024/02/01/marine-leaders-drop-2030-from-name -of-ambitious-overhaul-plan/ (accessed March 31, 2024). For more explanations of Force Design 2030, see Dakota Wood, "The U.S. Marine Corps: A Service in Transition," Heritage Foundation *Backgrounder* No. 3501, June 16, 2020, https://www.heritage.org/defense/report/the-us-marine -corps-service-transition, and Dakota Wood, "The U.S. Marine Corps Has a Choice: Transform or Die," *Defense One*, October 16, 2022, https://www.defenseone.com/ideas/2022/10/us-marine-corps-transform-or-die/378464/ (accessed March 31, 2024).
- 41. On average, the Corps had approximately 194,000 Marines during the 1950s, 227,000 in the 1960s, 201,000 in the 1970s, and 195,000 in the 1980s, enabling it to handle the Korean and Vietnam wars concurrent with duties in various regions that included augmenting U.S. readiness for a potential conflict with the Soviet Union. Since the end of the Cold War, the size of the service has varied from 171,154 in FY 1999 to 204,153 in FY 2009, with an average end strength of 180,172 over the past 32 years (1992 to 2023). See Table, "Marine Corps Fiscal Year End Strengths, 1798–2015," Marine Corps University, https://www.usmcu.edu/Research/Marine-Corps-History-Division/Research-Tools-Facts-and-Figures/End-Strengths/ (accessed March 31, 2024). Figures for 2019 through 2022 can be found in respective editions of The Heritage Foundation's *Index of U.S. Military Strength*. ed. Dakota L. Wood (Washington: The Heritage Foundation, 2020), https://www.heritage.org/sites/default/files/2019-11/2020 _IndexOfUSMilitaryStrength_WEB.pdf; *2021 Index of U.S. Military Strength*, ed. Dakota L. Wood (Washington: The Heritage Foundation, 2022), https://www.heritage.org/sites/default/files/2020-11/2021_IndexOfUSMilitaryStrength_WEB_0.pdf; *2022 Index of U.S. Military Strength*, ed. Dakota L. Wood (Washington: The Heritage Foundation, 2022), https://www.heritage.org/sites/default/files/2020-11/2021_IndexOfUSMilitaryStrength_WEB_0.pdf; *2022 Index of U.S. Military Strength*, ed. Dakota L. Wood (Washington: The Heritage Foundation, 2022), https://www.heritage.org/sites/default/files/2022-11/2021_IndexOfUSMilitaryStrength_WEB_0.pdf; *2022 Index of U.S. Military Strength*, ed. Dakota L. Wood (Washington: The Heritage Foundation, 2022), https://www.heritage.org/sites/default/files/2022_IndexOfUSMilitaryStrength.pdf; and *2023 Index of U.S. Military Strength*, ed. Dakota L. Wood (Washington: The Heritage Foundation, 2023), https://www.heritage.org/sites/default/files/2022_IndexOfUSMilitaryStrength.pdf.
- 42. Gidget Fuentes, "Marine Corps Barracks' Inspections Mean More Maintenance Short Term, Better Living Conditions," USNI News, updated February 22, 2024, https://news.usni.org/2024/02/15/marine-corps-barracks-inspections-mean-more-maintenance-short-term-better-living-conditions (accessed March 31, 2024), and Irene Loewenson, "Here's How the Marine Corps Plans to Overhaul Its 25 Installations," *Marine Corps Times*, February 23, 2023, https://www.marinecorpstimes.com/news/your-marine-corps/2023/02/23/heres-how-the-marine-corps-plans-to-overhaul-its-25-installations/ (accessed March 31, 2024).

- 43. General David H. Berger, Commandant of the Marine Corps, statement on "The Posture of the United States Marine Corps" before the Committee on Armed Services, U.S. House of Representatives, April 28, 2023, p. 8, https://armedservices.house.gov/sites/republicans.armedservices.house.gov/files /04.28.23%20Berger%20Statement.pdf (accessed March 31, 2024).
- 44. Ibid., pp. 14 and 16.
- 45. Brad Lendon, "US Marines Officially Opens First New Base in 70 Years on Island of Guam," CNN, January 27, 2023, https://www.cnn.com/2023/01/27 /asia/new-us-marine-corps-base-guam-intl-hnk-ml/index.html (accessed March 31, 2024).
- 46. Todd South, "New in 2024: Marines Build 3rd Littoral Regiment to Fight Peer Threats," *Marine Corps Times*, January 1, 2024, https://www .marinecorpstimes.com/news/your-marine-corps/2024/01/02/new-in-2024-marines-build-3rd-littoral-regiment-to-fight-peer-threats/ (accessed March 31, 2024). The Corps established its first littoral regiment, the 3rd MLR, by reorganizing the 3rd Marine Regiment, located in Hawaii, in March 2022. The second, the 12th MLR, located on Okinawa, Japan, was initiated in November 2023. The third and likely final MLR will come from reorganizing the 4th Marines for this purpose. It will be based on Guam. For additional information, see Andrew Feickert, "The U.S. Marine Corps Marine Littoral Regiment (MLR)," Congressional Research Service *In Focus* No. IF12200, updated March 28, 2023, https://crsreports.congress.gov /product/pdf/IF/IF12200/4 (accessed March 31, 2024), and Dzirhan Mahadzir, "U.S. Marines Stand Up New Regiment, Chinese Warships Sail in East China Sea," USNI News, November 16, 2023, https://news.usni.org/2023/11/16/u-s-marines-stand-up-new-regiment-chinese-warships-sail-in-east -china-sea (accessed March 31, 2024).
- 47. General David H. Berger, "A Concept for Stand-In Forces," U.S. Marine Corps, December 2021, https://www.hqmc.marines.mil/Portals/142/Users/183 /35/4535/211201 A%20Concept%20for%20Stand-In%20Forces.pdf (accessed March 31, 2024).
- 48. 10 U.S. Code § 9062(c), https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/10/9062 (accessed March 31, 2024).
- 49. U.S. Air Force, "Air and Space Superiority," August 21, 2013, https://www.af.mil/News/Article-Display/Article/466893/air-and-space-superiority/ (accessed March 31, 2024).
- 50. U.S. Air Force, "Intelligence, Surveillance, and Reconnaissance," August 21, 2013, https://www.af.mil/News/Article-Display/Article/466894/intelligence -surveillance-and-reconnaissance/ (accessed March 31, 2024).
- 51. U.S. Air Force, "Rapid Global Mobility...Delivery on Demand," August 21, 2013, https://www.af.mil/News/Article-Display/Article/466896/rapid-global -mobility-delivery-on-demand/ (accessed March 31, 2024).
- 52. U.S. Air Force, "Global Strike...Any Target, Any Time," August 21, 2013, https://www.af.mil/News/Article-Display/Article/466897/global-strike-any -target-any-time/ (accessed March 31, 2024).
- 53. U.S. Air Force, "Command and Control...Total Flexibility," August 21, 2013, https://www.af.mil/News/Article-Display/Article/466932/command-and -control-total-flexibility/ (accessed March 31, 2024).
- 54. John Venable, "Rebuilding America's Military: The United States Air Force," Heritage Foundation Special Report No. 223, March 26, 2020, https://www .heritage.org/defense/report/rebuilding-americas-military-the-united-states-air-force.
- 55. Extracted from U.S. Air Force budget summaries for 2013 to 2023. For example: Table 1, "Air Force Budget Highlights Summary," in U.S. Department of Air Force, United States Air Force FY 2014 Budget Overview, April 2013, p. 4, https://www.saffm.hq.af.mil/Portals/84/documents/FY14/AFD-130410 -051.pdf?ver=2016-08-24-092814-517 (accessed March 31, 2024); Table 1, "Department of the Air Force Budget Summary," in U.S. Department of the Air Force, Department of the Air Force Fiscal Year 2024 Budget Overview, p. 2, https://www.saffm.hq.af.mil/Portals/84/documents/FY24/Budget/FY24 %20Budget%20Overview%20Book.pdf?ver=JjFXW89XqB_YsIGx1wx4IA%3d%3d (accessed March 31, 2024); and CoinNews Media Group, "The US Inflation Calculator," https://www.usinflationcalculator.com (accessed March 31, 2024).
- 56. U.S. Air Force, "The Air Force We Need: 386 Operational Squadrons," September 17, 2018, https://www.af.mil/News/Article-Display/Article/1635070 /the-air-force-we-need-386-operational-squadrons/ (accessed March 31, 2024).
- 57. Ibid.
- 58. Ibid.
- 59. While the number of aircraft in any one of those categories varies from unit to unit, there are approximately 30 fighters, 10 bombers, 15 tankers, and 15 strategic airlift aircraft in each squadron. Mathematically, "The Air Force We Need" calls for 182 more fighters, 50 more bombers, 210 more refuelers, and 15 more airlift aircraft than the Air Force currently has in its inventory. Airframe purchases alone would cost approximately \$80 billion. That rough estimate is based on the need for 182 more F-35s (seven squadrons, 26 fighters per squadron, \$80 million each); 50 more B-21 bombers (five squadrons, 10 bombers per squadron, \$564 million each); 210 more KC-46s (14 squadrons, 15 tankers per squadron, \$169 million each); and 15 additional C-17s (one squadron, 15 aircraft per squadron, no longer in production but an average of \$262 million each in FY 2020 dollars). See, respectively, U.S. Air Force, "The Air Force We Need: 386 Operational Squadrons"; Marcus Weisgerber, "Price Drop: Lockheed Pitches \$80M F-35A to Pentagon," *Defense One*, May 7, 2019, https://www.defenseone.com/business/2019/05/price-drop-lockheed-pitches-80m-f-35a-pentagon/156825/ (accessed March 31, 2024); Jeremiah Gertler, "Air Force B-21 Raider Long-Range Strike Bomber," Congressional Research Service *Report for Members and Committees of Congress* No. R44463, updated September 22, 2021, p. 4, https://fas.org/sgp/crs/weapons/R44463.pdf (accessed March 31, 2024); Exhibit P-40, "Budget Line Item Justification: PB 2020 Air Force, Appropriation / Budget Activity / Budget Sub Activity: 3010F: Aircraft Procurement, Air Force / BA 02: Airlift Aircraft / BSA 2: Tactical Airlift, P-1 Line Item Number / Title: KC046A / KC-46A MDAP," in U.S. Department of the Air Force, *Department of Defense Fiscal Year (FY) 2020 Budget Estimates, Air Force, Justification Book Volume 1 of 2, Aircraft Procurement, Air Force Vol-1*,

March 2019, p. 25, https://www.saffm.hq.af.mil/Portals/84/documents/FY20/PROCUREMENT/FY20_PB_3010_Aircraft_Vol-1.pdf?ver=2019-03-18 -152821-713 (accessed March 31, 2024); and Fact Sheet, "C-17 Globemaster III," U.S. Air Force, https://www.af.mil/About-Us/Fact-Sheets/Display/Article /1529726/c-17-globemaster-iii/ (accessed March 31, 2024).

- 60. Venable, "Rebuilding America's Military: The United States Air Force."
- 61. Extracted from U.S. Air Force budget summaries for the years 2017 through 2024. For example: Table 1, "Air Force Budget Highlights Summary," in U.S. Department of the Air Force, United States Air Force Fiscal Year 2018 Budget Overview, May 2017, p. 15, http://www.saffm.hq.af.mil/LinkClick .aspx?fileticket=m3vZOmfR368%3d&portalid=84 (accessed March 31, 2024), and Table 1, "Department of the Air Force Budget Summary," in U.S. Department of the Air Force, Department of the Air Force FY 2021 Budget Overview, p. 2, https://www.saffm.hq.af.mil/Portals/84/documents/FY21 /SUPPORT_/FY21%20Budget%20Overview_1.pdf?ver=2020-02-10-152806-743 (accessed March 31, 2024).
- 62. Beaver, "Prioritizing Procurement over Research and Development."
- 63. Venable, "Rebuilding America's Military: The United States Air Force."
- 64. United States Space Force, "About the Space Force: Mission," https://www.spaceforce.mil/About-Us/About-Space-Force (accessed March 31, 2024).
- 65. Air Force News Service, "AF Plans to Accelerate Defendable Space with Next-Gen OPIR," May 4, 2018, https://www.af.mil/News/Article-Display /Article/1512949/af-plans-to-accelerate-defendable-space-with-next-gen-opir/ (accessed March 31, 2024).

